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Dear Business Partners of Česká exportní banka,

You have certainly noticed that the last year was another one that was not easy for 

the Bank. However, I believe that most of us understand the actual substance of the

processes that were going on in the Bank. I already pointed out in our Bank’s 2012 Annual

Report that it was necessary to pay close attention to the return and quality of our credit

portfolio, and that further steps needed to be taken to ensure the internal stabilisation 

of the Bank. 

The thorough review of the credit portfolio that we performed in the second quarter of

last year showed that the historical burden is heavier than we had supposed. An intensive

dialogue with EGAP which insured most of the problematic loan transactions indicated

that the Bank would be carrying greater losses than had been historically anticipated

and hence the management decided to recognise additional provisions for these loan

exposures. Had we not taken this rigorous step, our Bank would have started losing its

ability to operate with prudence in line with the regulatory requirements and subsequently

to effectively support the competitiveness of Czech exports, which goes hand in hand

with employments in the Czech Republic, which is the key mission of the Bank.

Let me comment on two most important and pivotal points included in the Bank’s

business strategy. Firstly, I would like to emphasise that our major source of funding is the

long-term and medium-term bonds that are issued by the Bank under an irrevocable

and unconditional State guarantee. As such, this is not a direct funding from the State

budget, as some may erroneously allege. In addition, I would like to highlight the fact

that most our clients are companies that are able to deliver large-scale supplies and

execute projects involving large capital goods. The operations of these companies are

crucial for the Czech economy and for penetrating non-European markets. It is very

often these companies that in their position of an EPC contractor participate in projects

and transactions with great referential value. However, there are not many such

companies in our country. Moreover, they have to face strong international competition

on non-European markets, where their competitors benefit from heavy support from their

large national export-promotion systems. I am convinced that this fact is a good

reference for us and the best evidence that we fulfil our mission completely. Without our

support, Czech exporters would simply not be able to participate in a number of major

export opportunities, or they would be marginalized to the role of sub-contractors with

lower profit margins, and thus lower contributions to the State budget and a weaker

effect on Czech employment. 

Based on the above, it is obvious that a flawlessly operating Česká exportní banka is

important for the Czech economy. At the same time, the Bank must not lose its capacity

and appetite to take up risk in cases where the risk is compensated for with unique

opportunities for Czech exports and when the risks are professionally hedged against.

On the other hand, the territories offering such opportunities require that the individual

business projects be treated with the utmost prudence possible. 

I am sure you will have noticed that we achieved a very positive operating income and

profit before tax last year. Another important positive achievement is the sufficiently-high

level of interest income. Thanks to this, we were not forced to apply for the standard

subsidy arising from interest rate differences last year. The State budget subsidy reflected

therefore “solely” the coverage of provisioning costs.

Now that we have managed to stabilise the Bank, in 2014 we wish to work further on its

transformation so that the Bank’s internal structure and its role in the export promotion

system corresponds with modern challenges of export financing. We will expand the
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Bank’s credit portfolio to include new products, which we would like to introduce in the

middle of the year. The Bank’s new management will intensely develop the concept 

for our future work. We will propose clear and efficient guidelines for the Bank’s

development in line with the most-stringent standards and best banking practices. All

these efforts will be undertaken based on a detailed analysis of the current banking

market in the Czech Republic and on an analysis of the Czech exporters’ opportunities

on international markets. Moreover, we will analyse the Bank’s structure, position and

capitalisation as such. We strongly believe that our Bank’s activities are straightforward

and clearly-defined. In our view, the Bank’s intervention is necessary solely where 

there is a gap or limitation of commercial banking services. There is no use for our

supplementing the private banking sector and concluding transactions that generally

are and will be financed by private banks. Therefore, only where Česká exportní banka’s

role cannot be substituted, we need to (realistically) clearly state what, when and how

we can handle. Our aim is a modern, efficient and sustainable financing of Czech

exports in an absolutely transparent environment.

Jiří Klumpar

Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO  
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z z z Key Indicators 

Unit 2013 2012

Financial results 

Net interest income CZK mil. 997 760

Net fee and commission income CZK mil. 55 31

Net operating income including state subsidy CZK mil. 2 298 543

Impairment losses on loans CZK mil. –2 576 –643

Operating costs CZK mil. –467 –428

Income tax expense CZK mil. –509 –180

Net loss/profit for the year CZK mil. –202 83

Balance sheet 

Total assets CZK mil. 95 324 83 494

Loans and other receivables to customers CZK mil. 78 486 67 388

Loans and other receivables to banks CZK mil. 7 358 6 044

Deposits and other financial liabilities at amortized costs due to clients CZK mil. 2 035 4 726

Deposits and other financial liabilities at amortized costs due to banks CZK mil. 1 394 3 467

Issued bonds at amortized cost CZK mil. 83 906 68 088

Total equity CZK mil. 4 499 4 242

Ratios 

ROAE % –3,86 1,62

ROAA % –0,23 0,10

Capital adequacy (per ČNB) % 46,56 49,69

Assets per employee CZK mil. 538,55 461,29

Administrative expenses per employee CZK mil. –1,997 –1,88

Net profit per employee CZK mil. –1,14 0,46

Other information 

Average headcount employees 177 174

Headcount (as of 31 December) employees 177 181

Guarantees issued CZK mil. 4 553 4 636

Loan commitments CZK mil. 13 960 18 205

Rating – long-term payables 

Moody’s – A1 A1

Standard & Poor’s – AA– AA–
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History and Development of Česká exportní banka, a.s.

Česká exportní banka, a.s. (hereinafter “ČEB” or the “Bank”) is registered in the Commercial Register maintained

by the Municipal Court in Prague, Section B, File No. 3042. 

The Bank is an issuer of securities under the Agreement on the Maintenance of Records Regarding the Issue of

Securities in the Central Securities Record within the Central Securities Depository Prague (Centrální depozitář

cenných papírů, a.s.) with its registered office in Prague 1, Rybná 14, 110 05; Issuer’s Registration No. 2033836.

Based on a banking licence1 issued by the Czech National Bank under Ref. No. 2003/3966/520, dated 19 September

2003, which became effective on the same date, a change in the banking licence issued by the Czech National

Bank under Ref. No. 2003/4067/520, dated 30 September 2003, which became effective on 2 October 2003, 

a change in the banking licence issued by the Czech National Bank under Ref. No. 2005/3982/530, dated 

16 December 2005, which became effective on 10 January 2006, a change in the banking licence issued by the

Czech National Bank under Ref. No. 2011/141/570, dated 6 January 2011, which became effective on 25 January

2011, and a change in the banking licence issued by the Czech National Bank under Ref. No. 2013/6197/570, dated

27 May 2013, which became effective on 7 June 2013, the principal business activities of Česká exportní banka, a.s.

are defined as follows:

n Pursuant to Section 1 (1) of Act 21/1992 Coll., on Banks, as amended:

a) Acceptance of deposits made by general public; and

b) Provision of loans.

n Pursuant to Section 1 (3) of Act 21/1992 Coll., as amended 

a) Investing in securities on the Bank’s own account to the extent of negotiable securities issued by the Czech

Republic, the Czech National Bank, and foreign governments, investing in foreign bonds and mortgage bonds,

and investing in securities issued by legal entities with registered offices in the territory of the Czech Republic;

c) Payment systems and clearing; 

e) Provision of guarantees; 

f) Opening of letters of credit;

g) Collection services; 

1) Provision of banking information; 

m) Trading on the Bank’s own account or on the client’s account in foreign currencies that are not investment

instruments and in gold to the extent of the following:

n Trading on the Bank’s own account in foreign bonds;

n Trading on the Bank’s own account in funds denominated in foreign currencies; 

n Trading on the Bank’s own account or on its clients’ account in negotiable securities issued by foreign governments; 

n Trading on the Bank’s own account or on its clients’ account in monetary rights and obligations derived from

the above-mentioned foreign currencies;

n Trading on its clients’ account in funds denominated in foreign currencies; and 

o) Activities directly related to the activities mentioned in Česká exportní banka’s banking licence:

n Provision of  investment services in line with Act 256/2004 Coll., on Capital Market Undertakings, as amended

(hereinafter the “Act on Capital Market Undertakings”); the services include the following:

Major investment services

n In line with Section 4 (2) (a) of the Act on Capital Market Undertakings – receiving and giving instructions on

investment instruments, specifically investment instruments pursuant to Section 3 (1) (d) of this Act;

n In line with Section 4 (2) (b) of the Act on Capital Market Undertakings – implementation of instructions related to

investment instruments on the account of clients, specifically investment instruments pursuant to Section 3 (1) (d)

of this Act;

n In line with Section 4 (2) (c) of the Act on Capital Market Undertakings – trading of investment instruments, on the

Bank’s account, specifically investment instruments pursuant to Section 3 (1) (a) of this Act, with the exception of

shares and low-value securities representing an equity investment in a company or another legal entity, specifically

investment instruments pursuant to Section 3 (1) (c) and (d) of the Act on Capital Market Undertakings; 

n In line with Section 4 (2) (e) of the Act on Capital Market Undertakings – investment advisory on investment

instruments, specifically instruments pursuant to Section 3 (1) (d) of this Act; and

1.1.

z z z 1. GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF ČESKÁ EXPORTNÍ BANKA, A.S.

1 The banking licence replaced the permit issued by the Czech National Bank to Česká exportní banka, a.s., based on which ČEB was allowed to perform its
activities as a bank;  the permit was issued on 6 February 1995 and the change was made on 27 June 1996.
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Additional Investment Services

n In line with Section 4 (3) (a) of the Act on Capital Market Undertakings – escrow and administration of investment

instruments including the relating services, specifically investment instruments pursuant to Section 3 (1) (a), (c) and

(d) of this Act;

n In line with Section 4 (3) (c) of the Act on Capital Market Undertakings – advisory on the capital structure, industrial

strategies and related issues, advisory and services on company transformations and company transfers.

Summary of Activities Performed by the Bank:

a) Acceptance of deposits made by the general public;

b) Provision of loans; 

c) Investing in securities on the Bank’s own account to the extent of negotiable securities issued by the Czech

Republic, the Czech National Bank, and foreign governments, investing in foreign bonds and mortgage bonds,

and investing in securities issued by legal entities with registered offices in the territory of the Czech Republic;

d) Payment systems and clearing;

e) Provision of guarantees;

f) Opening of letters of credit; 

g) Collection services; 

h) Advisory activities related to capital structures, industrial strategies and related issues, as well as the provision of

advisory services and services related to company transformations and transfers; 

i) Provision of banking information; 

j) Trading on the Bank’s own account or on the client’s account in foreign currencies and in gold to the extent of:

n Trading on its own account in foreign bonds; 

n Trading on its own account in funds denominated in foreign currencies; 

n Trading on its own account or on its clients’ account in negotiable securities issued by foreign governments;

n Trading on its own account or on its clients’ account in monetary rights and obligations derived from the

above-mentioned foreign currencies; 

n Trading on its clients’ account in funds denominated in foreign currencies; and 

k)  Activities directly related to the activities mentioned in Česká exportní banka’s banking licence. 

Summary of Activities the Performance or Provision of which was Limited or Eliminated by the Czech National Bank

During 2013:

No activities have been limited or eliminated. 

Registered Office and Legal Status of the Issuer and Legal Regulations Governing the Issuer’s Activities

Registered office: Prague 1, Vodičkova 34/701, 111 21 (hereinafter “ČEB” or the “Bank”)

Legal status: Joint Stock Company 

Corporate ID: 63078333

Telephone: +420 222 841 100

Fax: +420 224 226 162

E-mail: ceb@ceb.cz

Website: www.ceb.cz

The principal Czech legal regulations under which Česká exportní banka performed its activities in 2013:

Act 101/2000 Coll., on Personal Data Protection; 

Act 200/1990 Coll., on Offences; 

Act 284/2009 Coll., on Payments; 

Act 21/1992 Coll., on Banks;

Act 280/2009 Coll., the Tax Code; 

Act 190/2004 Coll., on Bonds; 

Act 235/2004 Coll., on Value Added Tax; 

Act 253/2008 Coll., on Certain Measures against Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing; 

Act 254/2008 Coll., through which Certain Acts are Amended in respect of the Adoption of the Anti-money

Laundering and Terrorism Financing Act; 

9

1.2.
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Act 69/2006 Coll., on the Implementation of International Sanctions;

Act 256/2004 Coll., on Capital Market Undertakings; 

Act 499/2004 Coll., on Archiving and Record Management;

Act 563/1991 Coll., on Accounting; 

Act 513/1991 Coll., the Commercial Code; 

Act 58/1995 Coll., on Insuring and Financing of Exports with State Support; 

Act 229/2002 Coll., on the Financial Arbiter; 

Act 586/1992 Coll., on Income Taxation; 

Act 589/1992 Coll., on Social Security Contributions and Contributions to the State Employment Policy; 

Act 592/1992 Coll., on Public Health Insurance;

Act 93/2009 Coll., on Auditors; 

Act 40/1964 Coll., the Civil Code; 

Act 304/2013 Coll., on Public Registers of Legal and Natural Entities;

Regulation 307/2004 Coll., on Submitting Information and the Underlying Documents to the Czech National Bank

by Entities included in the Financial Institution Sector;

Regulation 123/2007 Coll., on Rules in the Prudential Business of Banks, Savings Banks and Credit Associations

and Securities Brokers; 

Regulation 231/2009 Coll., on the Requisites and Manner of Keeping the Transactions and Orders Books for

Investment Firms, and on the Principles for Keeping Records of Received and

Transmitted Orders for Investment Intermediaries;

Regulation 233/2009 Coll., on Applications, Approval of Persons and the Manner of Proving Professional

Qualifications, Trustworthiness and Experience of Persons;

Regulation 234/2009 Coll., on Anti-market Abuse Protection and Transparency; 

Regulation 281/2008 Coll., on Certain Requirements for the System of Internal Principles, Procedures and Review

Measures for Anti-money Laundering and Terrorism Financing;

Regulation 303/2010 Coll., on Detailed Provisions for Certain Rules related to the Provision of Investment Services;

Regulation 276/2010 Coll., on the Submission of Statements and Other Information by Investment Firms to the

Czech National Bank; 

Regulation 143/2009 Coll., on the Professionalism of Individuals Performing Activities related to Securities for Traders;

Regulation 58/2006 Coll., on Keeping Separate Records on Investment Instruments and Records related to the

Separate Records on Investment Instruments; and

Regulation 71/2011 Coll., on the Form, Structure and Method in Keeping and Providing Data that is Compulsory

for Banks and Foreign Bank Branches to Report and that is to be Provided to the

Investment Insurance Fund. 

Disclosed Documents

ČEB’s Articles of Association in Czech are publicly available and the hard-copy version thereof can be inspected

in the Bank’s registered office. 

The electronic version of the Bank’s Articles of Association in Czech is publicly available in the Collection of Deeds

of the Commercial Register file No. B 3042/SL 128 of the Municipal Court in Prague.  On the website of the

Commercial Register – Collection of Deeds, the updated version of ČEB’s Articles of Association is available under

the following address: 

www.justice.cz

In addition, ČEB’s website makes publically available all documents and information on its activities, through which

it meets its informational obligation arising from the relevant legal regulations that the Bank is to follow in performing

its business. 

1.3.
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Further Information on Česká exportní banka, a.s.

ČEB is not a member of any group.

Act 58/1995 Coll., on Insuring and Financing Exports with State Support, authorised the Bank to finance exports with

state support in line with international rules of public support applied in financing export loans with maturity

exceeding two years (predominantly the “OECD Consensus”). 

Under Section 8 (1) (b) of Act 58/1995 Coll., on Insuring and Financing Exports with State Support, the state is held

liable for the obligations of ČEB arising from payments of funds received by ČEB and for obligations arising from

other ČEB’s operations on the financial markets.

No specific event that could have a material impact on the evaluation of ČEB’s solvency has occurred since the

last publication of the Annual Report of ČEB as an issuer of securities.

When providing export loans with a maturity period of at least two years, ČEB complies with the rules for assessing

the impacts the financed export projects may have on the environment of the export destination. ČEB complies with

the procedures set out in OECD Council Recommendation on Common Approaches for Officially-Supported Export

Credits and Environmental and Social Due Diligence (2012) providing guidance on the application of some rules

in state-supported export credits. ČEB does not perform any environmental activities on its own.

Representative office of Česká exportní banka, a.s. abroad: Česká exportní banka, a.s. has a representative office

established in the Russian Federation. The agency is an independent office of the Bank and has no legal personality.

The representative office’s activities are delineated by the statutes of the representative office as amended by the

Central Bank of the Russian Federation’s Order No. RF 02-437 dated 7 October 1997. 

Address: Mashi Poryvaevoy 7 

107 078 Moscow 

Russian Federation 

Telephone, fax: + 7 (495) 604 90 30 

Contributions to the Deposit Guarantee Fund of the Investment Firms 

In compliance with Section 41 (a) of Act 21/1992 Coll., on Banks, Česká exportní banka, a.s. contributes to the

system of insurance of receivables from deposits, namely to the Deposit Insurance Fund. The contributions to the

system amounted to CZK 1,459,534 in 2013.

Česká exportní banka, a.s., as an authorized investment firm, is obliged to contribute to the Deposit Guarantee

Fund of the Investment Firms in compliance with Act 265/2004 Coll., on Capital Market Undertakings. In compliance

with Section 129 (2) of the Act, the contribution of Česká exportní banka, a.s. amounted to CZK 10,000 in 2013.

Administrative, Management and Supervisory Bodies of ČEB and Related Committees

General Meeting – the supreme bank body decides by means of decrees. General assemblies are attended by

the shareholders or by their representatives based on a power of attorney.

Supervisory Board – supervisory bank body that supervises the performance of the Board of Directors’ activities and

the performance of the Bank’s business activities; presents its opinions to the General Meeting; and grants

permissions in line with the Articles of Association of Česká exportní banka, a.s.  

Chairman 

Ing. Milan Hovorka Replacement member since 6 November 2010, Member since 23 November 2010, 

Vice-chairman since 29 January 2011, Chairman since 24 May 2012

Deputy Minister of Industry and Trade of the Czech Republic

Politických vězňů 20, 11 249 Prague 1

11
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Vice-chairman 

Ing. Jan Gregor Member since 26 April 2012, Vice-chairman since 24 May 2012 

Deputy Minister of Finance of the Czech Republic

Letenská 15, 118 10 Prague 1 – Malá Strana 

Members Elected by the General Meeting

Ing. Oldřich Černoch, CSc. since 3 September 2009, re-elected on 31 October 2013.

Since 2012 – advisor to the CEO of the State Agricultural Intervention Fund, 

since September 2013 – CEO of the Institute of Agricultural Economics and 

Information and advisor to the Minister of Agriculture,

Mánesova 75, 120 00 Prague 2

Ing. Tomáš Dub Replacement member since 6 September 2010, 

Member since 23 November 2010

Deputy Minister of Foreign Affairs of the Czech Republic

Loretánské náměstí 5, 125 10 Prague 1 

Ing. Tomáš Zídek Member from 28 April 2011 to 31 October 2013

Deputy Minister of Finance of the Czech Republic

Letenská 15, 118 10 Prague 1

Ing. Vladimír Bártl, MBA Member since 26 April 2012

Director of the Business Support Section at the Ministry of Industry and Trade 

of the Czech Republic

Na Františku 32, 110 15 Prague 1

Ing. Eva Anderová Member since 31 October 2013

Deputy Minister of Finance

Letenská 15, 118 10 Prague 1

Elected Employees

Ing. Jaroslava Křížová since 25 November 2010

Team Manager – Export and Project Financing Division 

Česká exportní banka, a.s.

Vodičkova 34, 111 21 Prague 1 

Ing. Vladimír Šon since 2 September 2010

Stand-Alone Section – Reporting, Compliance Officer 

Česká exportní banka, a.s.

Vodičkova 34, 111 21 Prague 1 

Ing. Miloš Welser since 1 March 2012

Corporate Sales Coordinator

Česká exportní banka, a.s.

Vodičkova 34, 111 21 Prague 1 

Information on the Members of the Supervisory Board

Ing. Milan Hovorka

After graduating from the University of Economics in Prague, Department of International Trade, Milan Hovorka

worked at the Federal Ministry of Foreign Trade. From 1990 to 1996 he was a member of the Permanent Mission 

12
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of the Czech Republic to UN and other international organisations in Geneva. After his return, he worked as a Senior

Manager of the Department of Multilateral Business Policy, Relations with the EU and EFTA at the Ministry of Industry

and Trade of the Czech Republic. From 1998 to 2004, he worked for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, participating 

in the Permanent Mission of the Czech Republic to the World Trade Organisation (WTO), and eventually 

as a Permanent Representative, Mission Leader and member of various elected bodies of the WTO, including the

position of the Chairman of the Council for Trade in Goods. As of 2004 Mr. Hovorka worked as the Head of the

Department of European Countries and CIS countries at the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Czech Republic.

Since 1 September 2007, he has been the Deputy Minister of Industry and Trade and is the Head of the EU and

Foreign Trade Section. Currently, he is not a member of any bodies of any other companies.

Ing. Jan Gregor 

After graduating from the University of Economics in Prague, where he specialised in International Trade and

European Economic Integration, Jan Gregor joined the Ministry of Finance in 1998. He focused on the screening

of legislation in several negotiation proceedings and from 2003, he was responsible for negotiating financial and

budget issues on the Czech Republic’s accession to the EU. Between 2001 and 2010, he was the Director of the

National Fund Department, which coordinates all financial relations with the EU budget. In the years 2004 and

2005, he negotiated the financial perspective for the period between 2007 and 2013 and eventually he became 

a member of the governmental team for negotiating National Strategic Reference Framework. As an OECD and

EU expert, he participated in the preparation of financial management and control systems in Macedonia, Croatia

and Bulgaria. Since 2010, Jan Gregor has been the Deputy Minister of Finance.  He is the director of Public Budget

Section. Currently, he is not a member of any bodies of any other companies.

Ing. Oldřich Černoch, CSc. 

Oldřich Černoch graduated from the University of Economics in Prague, the Faculty of Transport and

Telecommunications and was awarded the advanced degree of the Candidate of Economic Sciences in 1993. In

1995 he participated in a specialised management course – MANAGEMENT I and II – at Gustav Käser Training

International. He also passed a special European Structural Funds training course, courses of assertiveness and

management, etc.  After completing his studies he started to work as an officer in the Accounting Department of

the West-Bohemian Telecommunications Headquarters in Plzeň. Starting in 1974 he worked as a senior expert and

in 1977 became the Head of Labour Economics Dept. of the Main Telecommunications Headquarters in Prague.

From 1992 to 2003 he was responsible for economics as the Deputy General Manager of the Czech Post, s.p. From

December 2003 to May 2008 he was the CEO of the State Intervention Fund for Agriculture (SZIF). In July 2008 he

became the Deputy General Manager of the Institute of Economics and Information in Agriculture. Until June 2011,

he was Deputy Minister of Agriculture and from 1 July 2011 to 29 February 2012, he was the Director of the State

Agriculture Intervention Fund. He has been the Head of the Institute of Agricultural Economics and Information

since September 2013 and at the same time, he is also an advisor to the minister of agriculture. He is not a member

of another company’s bodies. 

Ing. Tomáš Dub

After graduating in 1992 from the University of Economics in Prague, the Department of International Trade, Tomáš

Dub worked for the government as an advisor to the First Deputy Minister of the Economy. From 1994 to 2002 he was

mayor of the 7th Prague Municipal District. From 2002 to 2006 he was a member of the Council of the Municipality

of Prague, where he was the Chairman of the Foreign Committee and a member of the Legislative, Legal and

Security Committee. From 2002 to 2010 he was a deputy of the Chamber of Deputies of the Parliament of the Czech

Republic, where he was a member of the Foreign Committee, Chairman of the Subcommittee for Representation

of the Czech Republic Abroad, a member of the Subcommittee for Aeronautics and Astronautics and a member

of the Standing Commission for Banking between 2002 and 2006. Between 2006 and 2010 he was a Vice-Chairman

of the Foreign Committee and a member of the Defence Committee. As a Deputy of the Parliament of the Czech

Republic, from 2006 to 2010, he was also Head of the Permanent Delegation for the Parliament Assembly of NATO,

where he worked in the Standing Commission, in the Political Committee and the Subcommittee for Transatlantic

Economic Collaboration. Since August 2010 he has been Deputy Minister of Foreign Affairs. Currently, he is not 

a member of any bodies of any other companies.
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Ing. Tomáš Zídek /until 31 October 2013/

Tomáš Zídek graduated from the University of Economics in Prague. From early 1990s he worked as a Director of the

Environmental Section and later as the Deputy Minister of Agriculture of the Czech Republic where he was

responsible for dealings with the EU. Between 2002 and 2006 he worked for the Institute of Agricultural Economics

and Information. Between September 2006 and June 2013 he was the Deputy Minister of Finance and managed

the Relations with the EU and Macroeconomic Analysis. He is the Chairman of the Management Board of the

Czech Agricultural University in Prague.

Ing. Vladimír Bártl

Vladimír Bártl graduated from the Faculty of Textile and Mechanical Engineering of the Technical University of

Liberec and gained further knowledge in the area of economy and trade while taking an MBA course at the

University of Economics (PIBS) in Prague. Between 1992 and 1999, he was the CEO of Chemopetrol, the oil refinery

and petrochemical complex, in Litvínov. Later, as the director of a Unipetrol, a.s. subsidiary for roofing production,

he was responsible for the construction and launching of new production, including the introduction of a sale

system. Between 2007 and 2011, he was the Director of the Road Transport Department at the Ministry of Transport

of the Czech Republic; eventually, he became the Managing Director.  Since 2011, he has been the Director for the

Business Support Section at the Ministry of Industry and Trade, where he focusses on business environment and

reducing administrative burden laid upon businessmen and entrepreneurs. He was a member of numerous bodies

of different companies, both as a member of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors in the following

companies: Chemopetrol, a.s., Most Technical Services, a.s., SVS North-Bohemian Waterworks Company, a.s.,

Railway Infrastructure Administration where he was the Chairman of the Board of Directors. He is a member of the

Supervisory Boards of OTE, a.s. and the Czech-Moravian Guarantee and Development Bank, a.s.

Ing. Eva Anderová

After graduating from the University of Economics in Bratislava, Eva Anderová worked for the Slovak Academy of

Sciences as a scientist in the Macroeconomic Analyses and Socio-economic Prognoses Department. Between

1992 and 2003 she continued to develop her top management working experience in international companies

located in the Czech and Slovak Republics (Jacobs Suchard Figaro Bratislava and DHL Slovenská republika,

Sanoma Magazines Prague, Delvita a.s. and Boehringer Ingelheim, ČR). Before she moved to the Ministry of Finance

of the Czech Republic, she held several positions, such as the chief executive officer, publisher and managing

director in the publishing house of Prague Post, s.r.o. Eva Anderová has worked for the Ministry of Finance of the

Czech Republic since 2006, first in the Minister's Cabinet, and since 2007 as the International Relations Department

Director. In July 2013, she was appointed Deputy to the Minister of Finance responsible for International Relations

and Financial Policy Division. In this position, she represents the Ministry in international financial institutions. She is

the alternate for the Minister of Finance, the Governor representing the Czech Republic, at the World Bank and the

Head of the Czech Ministry of Finance delegation at the World Bank and at the International Monetary Fund. She

is in charge of the Financial Mechanism of the EEA and Norway Grants and of the Swiss-Czech Programme in the

role of the National Contact Point , as well as an EU National Aid Coordinator. She represents the Czech Republic

at Bank Councils of the IBEC and the IIB. Eva Anderová is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Vipap Krško, a.s.

Ing. Jaroslava Křížová

After graduating from high school, Jaroslava Křížová joined PZO Polytechna, where she worked as a technical

support officer in the department for trading with countries of the Council for Mutual Economic Assistance for three

years. After two years, she commenced her distance studies at the University of Economics, Prague, Faculty of

Trade, at the Department of Foreign Trade (completed in 1984). In 1978 she began working in the state-owned

enterprise IMEX a.s., where she worked for 15 years; the purpose of the enterprise was to minimise the disproportions

of the local market by exporting surplus goods and importing commodities in short supply. Here she first worked as

a trader, later she became head of the department focusing on the countries of the Council for Mutual Economic

Assistance and Yugoslavia. She was a member of the Supervisory Board for four years as the employee

representative. Between 1996 and 1997 she worked as the Head of Logistics of SSI Schäfer. In August 1997 she joined

ČEB as a loan manager and currently she is the head of the export financing team of ČEB’s Export and Project

Financing Davison. In November 2010, she was elected a member of the Supervisory Board by the employees.

Currently, she is not a member of any bodies of any other companies.
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Ing. Vladimír Šon

Vladimír Šon graduated from the Czech Technical University in Prague in 1976, Department of Constructions and

Transport Structures, specialisation in railway structures. After completing his studies, he joined Czech Railways and

worked gradually as a track maintenance supervisor, controller and railway transport engineer in the Kralupy-nad-

Vltavou track section. In 1979 he made an intra-company transfer to the Railway Project Centre in Ústí nad Labem

(Prague office), where he worked as a leading planning engineer for 13 years. During this time, he expanded his

knowledge thanks to postgraduate studies at the University of Transport and Communications in Žilina. In 1992 he

started working in state administration and was appointed the Director of the Office of the Minister of Industry and

Trade. In 1999 he started working in ČEB, specialising in reporting. Between 2006 and 2012, he was also a compliance

officer, at present he works in the Compliance Department. In September 2010 he was elected a member of the

Supervisory Board by the employees. Currently, he is not a member of any bodies of any other companies.

Ing. Miloš Welser

After completing his studies at the Department of International Trade of the University of Economics in Prague in

1987, Miloš Welsner gained experience in foreign trade and since 1992 he has occupied various positions in the

area of banking and finance within the following companies: Citibank a.s., Prague, Deutsche Bank AG, Prague

office (Proxy), Bank of America Securities (Vice-President for Central European Region), London, and SpenglerFox

Company, Prague. In February 2008, he joined ČEB, a.s. At present, he is the Corporate Sales Coordinator in the

Trade Section. In March 2012, he was elected a member of the Supervisory Board by the employees. Currently, he

is not a member of any bodies of any other companies.

Board of Directors – is the Bank’s statutory body, manages the operations of the Bank, acts in its name, ensures the

business management including accounting, and takes decisions related to all bank issues unless otherwise stipulated

by law or by regulations defined as competences of the General Meeting or the Supervisory Board. The Board 

of Directors makes decisions that may be subject to the Supervisory Board’s additional approval in accordance with

the Bank’s Articles of Association.

Chairman

Ing. Jiří Klumpar Member of the Board of Directors since 10 December 2012, 

Chairman since 10 December 2012

From the perspective of the Executive Management, 

Chief Executive Officer of ČEB since 10 December 2012

Vice-Chairman 

Ing. Michal Bakajsa Member since 1 February 2009, Vice-chairman since 2 September 2010

From the perspective of the Executive Management, 

Deputy CEO and Head of the Trade Section 

Mgr. Luboš Vaněk Member since 14 February 2011, Vice-chairman since 15 February 2011

From the perspective of the Executive Management, 

Deputy CEO and Head of the IT and Trade Administration Section

Member

Ing. Miloslav Kubišta Member since 26 April 2006, re-elected for an additional term of office on 26 April 2011,

Vice-Chairman from 26 April 2006 to 2 June 2008 and from 1 January 2009 

to 14 February 2011, then member until 31 December 2013                                  

Chairman of the Board of Directors from 5 October 2012 to 10 December 2012

Authorised to manage ČEB from 5 October 2012 to 10 December 2012

From the perspective of the Executive Management, 

Deputy CEO and Head of the Finance Section 

Supervisory Board at its meeting on 24 October 2013 in accordance with § 11

paragraph 3 of the Articles of Association removed Ing. Miloslav Kubišta, member

of the Board, from office  with effect from 31 December 2013.

15
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Ing. Ivan Duda Member since 1 October 2013

From the perspective of the Executive Management, 

Deputy CEO and Head of the Risk Management Section

At its meeting on 24 October 2013, the Supervisory Board elected Karel Bureš as member of the Board of Directors

with effect from 1 January 2014. 

Information on the Members of the Board of Directors

Ing. Jiří Klumpar

Jiří Klumpar graduated from the Faculty of Nuclear Sciences and Physical Engineering of the Czech Technical

University in Prague in 1980. In the 1990s he studied macro-economics at Georgetown University, Washington D.C.

He worked for the Czech National Bank as the Director of Financial Market and Free Market Transactions and,

subsequently, as the Director of Risk Management and Settlement. In the late 1990s, he was the official receiver for

Agrobanka, responsible for its restructuring and stabilisation. Later, he was active in GE Capital Bank as 

Vice-chairman of the Board of Directors and as the Head of the Development of Business Activities and Special

Projects. He also worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers Czech Republic, where he was responsible for managing

non-audit projects and advisory services in the field of financial services with a focus on risk management and risk

credit receivables administration. Currently, he is not a member of any bodies of any other companies.

Ing. Michal Bakajsa

Michal Bakajsa graduated from the University of Economics in Prague, in the field of system engineering in 1989.

Following graduation, he worked as an administrator of the Sparta Praha Sports Association. From 1992 to 1993 he

was the Vice-President for Economics of the Sparta Praha Sports Association. Between 1994 and 2001 he held

various positions at Česká spořitelna, a.s. From October 2001 to July 2006 he worked at Dresdner Bank CZ/BAWAG

Bank as the Head of a team responsible for structured finance and syndicated loans. After his engagement with

ČSOB a.s., where he held the position of the Director of the Exports and Structured Trade Financing department from

2006, he joined ČEB. During his professional career he has been a member of the supervisory boards of ECKG, a.s.,

Pegas DS, a.s. and Pegas, a.s. (1999-2001), Dresdner Bank CZ, a.s. (2003-2005) and BAWAG Bank CZ, a.s. (2005-2006).

Currently, he is not a member of any bodies of any other companies.

Mgr. Luboš Vaněk 

Luboš Vaněk studied at a secondary school in Sokolov and then graduated from the Faculty of Physical Education

and Sports of Charles University in Prague. In the 1990s, he was active in the capital market in banking investment

fund and after 1997 he was a member of the Supervisory Body of the Office for Securities and later in the

Commission for Securities, in the position of Head of the Department of Security Dealers and Brokers. He has 

a brokerage licence. From 1999 to 2002 he worked at the Czech National Property Fund as the Director of the

Chairman’s Office. Since 2003, he worked as the Executive Director of the Czech Social Security Administration,

where he was responsible for implementing process management in the organisation including economic

processes. On 1 February 2006, he was appointed Deputy Central Director and starting 1 August 2006, he was

entrusted with the management of the Czech Social Security Administration. From 1 March 2007 to 2010 he was the

Deputy Minister of Industry and Trade responsible for the section of subordinate organisations and state-owned

enterprises. From April 2009 to January 2011, he was the Vice-chairman of the Supervisory Board of ČEB and EGAP.

Currently, he is not a member of any bodies of any other companies.

Ing. Miloslav Kubišta /until 31 December 2013/

Miloslav Kubišta graduated from the University of Economics in Prague. From 1974 to 1978 he was employed in the

Financial Department of ČKD DUKLA Praha, and from 1978 to 1991 he worked in state administration in the field of

finance. Later, he pursued his career in private banking. From 1994 to 1995 he was employed with EGAP, a.s. He has

worked in ČEB since 1995, and was appointed Deputy CEO responsible for the Finance Section in 1996. Currently,

he is not a member of any bodies in any other companies.
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Ing. Ivan Duda

Ivan Duda graduated from the Czech Technical University in Prague (ČVUT), Faculty of Electrotechnical Engineering,

with a major in Technical Cybernetics, in 1989. In the 1990s, he added to his qualifications during several study trips

focused on assets and liabilities management and risk management in banks. He has been active in the banking

sector since 1993, first working for Komerční banka, a.s. in the ALM Department and later for Konsolidační banka s.p.ú.

as director of the Treasury Department, responsible for implementation of banking standards in business context, their

settlement in the financial and capital market and setting the standards of the bank's financial risk management. From

1998 he worked for Komerční banka as the bank’s and financial group’s Risk Management Department Director. During

the same period, he was also a member of the Supervisory Board of Komerční banka Bratislava, and in 2000, he became

Chairman of its Board of Directors as well as its Chief Executive Officer. Between 2002 and 2004, he served in the 

post-privatisation team of Slovakian bank VÚB banka, a.s., a part of Italian group IntesaSanpaolo. By virtue of his position

as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Executive Director of Stavební sporitelna VUB – Wuestenrot, a.s., he was

responsible for the bank's stabilisation and the subsequent sale of VÚB share to its Austrian and German co-owners. He

then became director of the subsidiary of VÚB bank in the Czech Republic, and remained in the position until mid-2008.

During the last five years, he has devoted himself to consultation activities and cooperation with the financial investors

concerning their activities in the Czech market. Currently, he is not a member of any bodies in any other companies.

Audit Committee – set up by a decision of the General Meeting of ČEB, held on 10 December 2009 and effective

as of 4 January 2010. The Audit Committee focuses mostly on the process of preparing the Bank’s financial

statements, evaluates the effectiveness of the internal controls of the Bank, the internal audit and/or risk

management systems, monitors the procedure of obligatory audits of the financial statements, recommends the

auditor, and sets up the remuneration regulations under the capacity of the Head of the Internal Audit Section.

The Composition of the Audit Committee in 2013 was as follows:

Ing. Zdeněk Grygar Chairman, independent member of the Audit Committee since 23 November 2010

Ing. Tomáš Zídek Member of the Audit Committee since 28 April 2011

Ing. Vladimír Bártl, MBA Member of the Audit Committee since 26 April 2012

Information on the Members of the Audit Committee

Ing. Zdeněk Grygar

Zdeněk Grygar graduated from the University of Economics in Prague, Faculty of Management, with a specialisation

in Economic and Mathematical Calculations (1980). He has worked as an auditor since 1992, and holds a certificate

of the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic (no. 1029). From 1980 to 1992 he worked as a subject specialist

for plan and budget control in economic and financial institutions at the Czech Ministry of Control; he became an

advisor to the Minister in 1990. Between 1992 and 2002 he worked as an economic analyst and director of the

Banking and Economic Concepts and Analyses in Banka Bohemia a.s. Upon the bank’s entry into liquidation in 1994,

he was a Senior Director of the Economic Division. From 2002 to 2005 he worked as a Deputy Liquidator of

Agrobanka a.s. in liquidation. In 2007 he was elected to the Executive Committee of the Chamber of Auditors of the

Czech Republic; he is the Chairman of the Audit Examination Committee and Examiner of Accounting within the

insolvency administrator exams managed by the Ministry of Justice. In the past, he worked as a member of the

Supervisory Board of Ekoagrobanka a.s. Ústí nad Labem, in liquidation, and COOP banka a.s. Brno, in liquidation, until

the termination of liquidation – both memberships arose following the authorisation by the Czech National Bank.

Currently, he works as a statutory auditor and focuses on the audits of administrative self-government regions, institutions

under the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, and research and development subsidies from the EU.

Ing. Tomáš Zídek 

Tomáš Zídek graduated from the University of Economics in Prague. From the beginning of the 1990s he worked as 

a Director of the Environmental Section and later as the Deputy Minister of Agriculture of the Czech Republic where

he was responsible for dealings with the EU. Between 2002 and 2006 he worked for the Institute of Agricultural Economics

and Information. He has been the Deputy Minister of Finance since 2006 and he is responsible for the Czech Republic’s

relationships with the EU, international cooperation and macroeconomic analyses. He is the Chairman of the

Management Board of the Czech Agricultural University in Prague and a member of the Economic and Financial
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Committee of the EU (EFC). He is an Alternate Governor of the World Bank and the European Bank for Reconstruction

and Development and is the leader of the Czech delegation to International Investment Bank and International

Development Bank. Since May 2011 he has been a member of the Supervisory Board of EGAP, a.s. Currently, he is not

a member of any bodies of any other companies.

Ing. Vladimír Bártl, MBA – refer to the information on the members of the Supervisory Board

Other Decision-Making Bodies of ČEB 

Within the scope of its activities, the Board of Directors set up the following decision-making bodies:

Credit Committee - a permanent decision-making and advisory body of the Board of Directors for deciding on and

evaluating all issues related to selected transactions and credit risk management, and the advisory body of the

leading employees of ČEB. The Credit Committee is part of the management and control system of the Bank.

Composition of the Credit Committee:

Mgr. Luboš Vaněk Vice-Chairman of the Credit Committee since 5. June 2012, 

authorised to manage the Committee until 1 November 2013

Ing. Ivan Duda Chairman of the Credit Committee since 1 November 2013

Ing. Michal Bakajsa Member of the Credit Committee, 

Vice-Chairman of the Credit Committee since 1 November 2013 

Ing. Petr Krupa Member of the Credit Committee, 

Head of the Credit Risk Management Division until 12 January 2012, 

authorised to manage the Risk Management Division since 5 June 2012

Ing. Martin Pánek Member of the Credit Committee from 12 January 2012, authorised to 

manage the Credit Risk Management Division since 1 January 2012 

Ing. Miloš Welser Member of the Credit Committee since 9 February 2012

Assets and Liabilities Management Commission (ALCO) – permanent decision-making and advisory body of the

Board of Directors for deciding on and evaluating all issues related to assets and liabilities management and

minimisation of market risks related to bank transactions and operations of ČEB on financial markets; and the

advisory body of the other leading departments. ALCO is a part of the management and control system of the Bank.

Composition of ALCO:

Ing. Miloslav Kubišta Chairman of ALCO until 10 January 2014 

Ing. Michal Bakajsa Member of ALCO, Vice-Chairman of ALCO from 9 May 2013 to 

1 November 2013, later a Member of ALCO

Ing. Ivan Duda Vice-chairman of ALCO since 1 November 2013

Ing. David Franta Member of ALCO, Head of the Treasury Division

Mgr. René Hanyk Member of ALCO, Head of the Banking Risk Management Division

Ing. Miloš Welser Member of ALCO

Ing. Petr Krupa Member of ALCO from 9 May 2013 to 31October 2013

Information Technologies Development Commission (ITDC) – permanent decision-making and advisory body of the

Board of Directors of ČEB dealing with issues in relation to ICT management. ITDC is part of the management and

control system of the Bank.

Composition of the Commission:

Mgr. Luboš Vaněk Chairman of  ITDC

Ing. Petr Jindrák Vice-chairman of ITDC, 

Head of the Bank Information System Development Division
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Ing. Pavel Kašpar Member of ITDC, 

Head of the Banking IS Operations and Internal Administration Division

Mgr. René Hanyk Member of ITDC, Head of the Banking Risk Management Division

Ing. Jan Bukovský Member of ITDC, ICT Security Inspector Banking IS Operations and 

Internal Administration Division

Ing. Marcela Šrůtková Member of ITDC, working for the Accounting Division

Ing. Petr Križan Member of ITDC, Deputy Director of the Legislation 

and International Relationships Section

Ing. Jiří Brudňák Member of ITDC, working for the Exports and Project Financing Division

Operational Risk Management Commission (ORCO) – permanent decision-making and advisory body of the Board

of Directors. Makes decisions and evaluates operational risks including all areas related to the information security

management of ČEB; and advisory body of the leading employees of the Bank. ORCO is part of the management and

control system of the Bank.

Composition of the Commission:

Mgr. Luboš Vaněk Vice-chairman of ORCO, since 5 June 2012,  

authorised to manage the Commission until 1 November 2013

Ing. Ivan Duda Chairman since 1 November 2013

Mgr. René Hanyk Member of ORCO, Head of the Banking Risk Management Division

Ing. Petr Jindrák Member of ORCO, Head of the Bank Information System Development Division

Ing. Pavel Kašpar Member of ORCO, Head of the Banking IS Operations 

and Internal Administration Division

Ing. Jan Bukovský Member of ORCO, ICT Security Inspector in Banking IS Operations and 

Internal Administration Division

Ing. Marcela Šrůtková Member of ORCO, working in the Accounting Division
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1.6.  Organisational Structure of Česká exportní banka, a.s.
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Declaration of No Conflicts of Interest 

The members of the Bank’s bodies, committees and councils declare that in 2013: 

a)  They have not abused their position in the Bank or the information that they had in place to gain profit that could

not otherwise have been gained, either for themselves or for other persons; 

b)  They have not concluded any transactions using the investment instruments of the Bank’s clients on their own

account or on the account of a person closely related to them;

c)  They have not provided instructions or recommendations to other persons related to the transactions with

investment instruments of the Bank’s clients that could be used by the persons in trading with the investment

instruments on their own account; and

d)  They have avoided all activities that may potentially expose them to a conflict of interests. 

1.7.
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Overview of the Bank’s Business Activities in 2013

2.1.1. Business Activities

In 2013, the total contracts concluded for loan financing and the issuance of guarantees amounted to CZK 8,519

million. This amount is CZK 17,730 million lower than the amount arising from commitments concluded in 2012, which

was CZK 26,249 million.

ČEB’s mission consists mainly of activities related to financing of exports towards countries with a higher and a high

degree of territorial risk and providing export loans with repayment terms exceeding two years.

The level of territorial risk is characterised by the risk classification of individual countries, which is assessed and updated

on a quarterly basis by the OECD. Major destination markets for Czech exporters’ products are primarily the countries

directly neighbouring the Czech Republic. Exports to these countries amount to 51% of total Czech exports. These

countries are classified by a zero risk rate by the OECD. 

Contrary to the overall Czech Republic’s exports structure, ČEB provides funding predominantly for exports to

countries with a higher and a high degree of territorial risk, which is illustrated by the respective brekdown of new

commitments concluded.

Note: The breakdown by level of risk determined by OECD as of 31 December for the relevant year.

2.1.

z z z 2. REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE BANK’S BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND ITS ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN 2013 
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In respect of the structure of new commitments by commodity, a year-on-year comparison shows that the dominant

portion of financing the exports of capital goods has been maintained. These capital goods include traditional and

nuclear energy sources, products intended for the energy production sector, integrated capital goods for various

industrial sectors, real estate development projects, transport engineering projects and transport and shipping

vehicles. The aggregate share of these goods in the total volume of new commitments (ie goods classified under SITC

71 and 72) has remained practically unchanged on a year-on-year basis.  

2.1.2. Development in the Loan Principal Portfolio Volume and Structure 

The total principal amount of provided loans and purchased receivables denominated in CZK decreased by CZK

13,840 million as of 31 December 2013, year-on-year, to CZK 82,363 million, ie by 20.2%. The total principal amount

of loans provided in EUR, which represent 86.6% of the total of provided loans, increased by EUR 409 million to EUR

2,599 million in 2013, ie 18.7%. The total principal amount of loans provided in USD decreased by USD 175 million in

2013, ie to 72.7% of the principal amount for 2012. As of 31 December 2013, the total amount of provided loans and

purchased receivables represented 86.4% of the total assets; as such, it increased by 4.3% year-on-year.

In respect of the principal structure of the providet loans by contractual currency, the loans denominated in EUR

increased year-on-year; on the contrary, the amount of loans provided in USD decreased. This balance is attributable

to the fact that certain loans provided in USD were repaid before their contractual maturity. The loans provided in

currencies other than in EUR and USD were provided in the domestic currency, ie CZK. The year-on-year portion of

loans provided in CZK remained almost at the same level, ie 2%.
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In respect of the contractual maturity of loans, the breakdown of loan principal amounts remained almost the

same from a year-on-year perspective. This parameter is influenced by the type of exported goods financed by 

the Bank, and the payment terms that are common on international markets. The financing structure, constituted

by all products used in the financing transactions, is based on both factors named above.

In respect of the purpose of loans, the breakdown of loan principal amounts remained almost the same, in the

year-on-year respect. This perspective of the structure of the loans provided is primarily based on the character 

of the exported goods and the usual payment term. Given the Bank’s mission and exporters’ demand, it is natural

for CEB to primarily finance the export of capital goods,  payment terms of which are longer.
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Development in the loan principal portfolio by currency
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2.1.3. Key Markets on Which the Bank Operates 

a) The Bank’s Position in the Local Banking Sector 

Compared to other banks operating in the Czech banking sector, ČEB is considered a medium-sized bank. ČEB is

characterised by an on-going enhancement of its position in terms of its share of the total assets of all the Czech

Republic’s banks. ČEB’s share of the total assets of banks in the Czech Republic has been increasing continuously.

During 2013, the share increased from 1.75% to 1.83%.

The Bank’s role within the Czech banking sector is - compared to commercial banks -specific, mainly for the following

reasons:

n ČEB’s position in the area of the officially supported export financing is stipulated by Act 58/1995 Coll., on Insuring

and Financing Exports with State Support. The Act determines the supported financing methods offered by ČEB

including the provision of financial services related to exports under the conditions set by this Act. As such, contrary

to commercial banks, the scope of the Bank’s business activity is very limited, both in terms of products provided

and their features and in terms ofthe Bank’s clients;

n Export financing can be used by a limited number of entities applying for supported funding. Specifically, this

applies to exporters of complex machinery units and vehicles and construction companies with their registered

office in the Czech Republic and, in the event of re-financing loans, their local banks. In addition, these exporters

have to be able to sell their goods on international markets prevailing over their competitors through high quality

of product and timeliness of delivery. In respect of pricing, ČEB offers financing of exports under the conditions

set out by international treaties (in line with the OECD Arrangement) based on CIRR rates.

n The Czech Republic has committed to provide export financing to Czech exporters in line with international

regulations. The Czech Republic has pledged to comply with such regulations by adhering to the OECD

Arrangement providing guidance on the provision of mid- and long-term export loans. Financing the export

loans in line with the OECD Arrangement represents the major segment of ČEB’s activities. Other types of loans

are provided by ČEB at market terms.    

2012 2013

Bank’s ČEB ČEB’s Bank’s ČEB ČEB’s
in total share in total share

Total Assets in CZK’m 4 778 593 83 494 1,75 % 5 200 465 95 324 1,83 %

Source: ČEB and ČNB (banking statistics)
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Information on ČEB’s position in the local banking sector can be obtained from the statistical data on client loans

published by the Czech National Bank.  This information evidences the fact that due to  ČEB’s specific position

of a dominant bank engaged in export financing, its position on the Czech banking market is in many aspects 

a lot more significant than what can be inferred from the Bank’s share in the total assets of all banks in the Czech

Republic. 

2012 2013

Client loans–by maturity Banks ČEB ČEB Banks ČEB Banks
(in CZK’m) total share total share

Balance of client loans and receivables 2 360 046 67 296 2,9 % 2 514 322 81 992 3,3 %

of which in CZK 2 014 308 1 213 0,1 % 2 056 718 1 792 0,1 %

yyy of which short-term loans (up to 1 year) 317 731 4 0,0 % 307 285 505 0,2 %

medium-term loans (1–5 years) 218 599 1 121 0,5 % 214 309 885 0,4 %

long-term loans (over 5 years) 1 477 978 88 0,0 % 1 535 124 402 0,0 %

of which in FC 345 738 66 083 19,1 % 457 604 80 200 17,5 %

yyy of which short-term loans (up to 1 year) 74 952 141 0,2 % 98 811 42 0,0 %

medium-term loans (1–5 years) 72 453 978 1,3 % 93 927 853 0,9 %

long-term loans (over 5 years) 198 333 64 964 32,8 % 264 867 79 305 29,9 %

2012 2013

Client loans to residents by purpose Banks ČEB ČEB Banks ČEB Banks
(in CZK’m) total share total share

Balance of resident loans and receivables 2 147 762 2 144 0,1 % 2 227 232 2,454 0,1 %
(all currencies)

of which Total other loans 837 009 2 144 0,3 % 875 959 2 454 0,3 %

of which investment 528 441 1 032 0,2 % 514 998 1 042 0,2 %

total current assets seasonal  
costs export, import 208 935 1 111 0,5 % 230 545 912 0,4 %

total other loans (financial  
and special purpose) 50 249 0 0,0 % 67 178 0 0,0 %
total for trade receivables 29 339 1 0,0 % 32 519 500 1,5 %

2012 2013

Client loans to non-residents by purpose Banks ČEB ČEB Banks ČEB Banks
(in CZK’m) total share total share

Balance of non-resident loans and receivables
(all currencies) 212 284 65 152 30,7 % 287 091 79 538 27,7%

of which Total other loans 192 031 65 152 33,9 % 265 928 79 538 29,9 %

of which investment 49 075 11 290 23,0 % 70 444 11 140 15,8 %

total current assets seasonal costs  
export, import 96 499 53 371 55,3 % 121 231 67 956 56,1 %

total other loans 29 109 410 1,4 % 46 933 359 0,8 %

(financial and special purpose)
total for trade receivables 3 689 81 2,2 % 6 614 83 1,3 %

Data source for commercial banks in total: ARAD – ČNB’s system of time lines
Data source for ČNB: Reporting for the Czech National Bank: VST(ČNB)1-12 - Monthly statement on loans and receivables from clients
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b) Factors Having Impact on the Bank’s Business Activities and the Financial Results in 2013

The year 2013 was featured by a continuous growth of exports, which has been almost the only positive component

of the Country’s GDP generation in the past years.

An additional increase in the exports for 2013 as expressed in absolute values was achieved in all groups of

countries included in our statistics, with the exception of European transitory economies and CIS, where the

absolute values remained at the same level. Despite the absolute year-on-year growth, the share of European

countries in the aggregate Czech exports dropped in all monitored sub-groups for these countries. In 2013, the

share of countries on which ČEB’s export support is primarily focused – CIS countries, European transitory

economies, developing countries, other advanced market economies and other countries – increased from 16.8%

to 17.1%, year-on-year. As such, this is a significant impetus for ČEB’s additional growth for the next year.

Based on the analysis of the Czech exporters’ performance with regard to the target countries whose share of the

aggregate Czech exports exceeds 1%, it should be noted that year-on-year growth was achieved solely in respect of the

Italy, Hungary, Spain, United Kingdom, Belgium, Turkey, Romania and China. The aggregate share of 75.8% of total loan

principals provided is attributable to Russia, Slovakia, Ukraine and Turkey. The share of the above mentioned countries  in

the Czech Republic’s total exports amounted to 15.0%.

Czech export (CZK bill) share on  Czech export
2012 2013 2012 2013

neighbouring CR 1 572 1 605 51.2 % 50.7 %

EU 15 countries 1 865 1 909 60.7 % 60.3 %

EU 28 countries 2 496 2 565 81.2 % 81.0 %

CIS countries 173 173 5.6 % 5.5 %

European transition countries 24 25 0.8 % 0.8 %

developing countries 124 130 4.0 % 4.1 %

other countries (with central planned economy) 36 41 1.2 % 1.3 %

other developed countries 157 172 5.1 % 5.4 %

Resource: CSO
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The year 2013 was marked by a continuing easy monetary policy applied by central banks, and by liquidity surplus

on capital markets. This factor had a positive impact on prices of financial resources denominated in both major

contractual currencies, EUR and USD, which the Bank acquires on financial markets. During 2013, the reference rates

and the fixed rates Credit Interest Reference Rates (set under the OECD Arrangement as the minimum rates and

published by the OECD, hereinafter “CIRR”) – were maintained at low levels. This development provided room for

applying a flexible interest surcharge without jeopardizing ČEB’s competitiveness vis-a-vis commercial banks, and

enabling ČEB to cover its funding costs. 

Countries’s share on Czech export Czech export Czech export changes in share on
in 2013 (over 1 %) in 2012 (%) in 2013 (%) Czech export in  2013

Germany 31.45 % 31.27 % –0.17 %

Slovakia 9.03 % 8.90 % –0.13 %

Poland 6.09 % 5.96 % –0.13 %

France 5.05 % 4.94 % –0.11 %

United Kingdom 4.79 % 4.82 % 0.03 %

Austria 4.61 % 4.54 % –0.07 %

Russia 3.84 % 3.67 % –0.17 %

Italy 3.59 % 3.60 % 0.01 %

Netherlands 3.23 % 2.80 % –0.43 %

Hungary 2.30 % 2.59 % 0.20 %

Belgium 2.39 % 2.52 % 0,22 %

United States 2.28 % 2.18 % –0.10 %

Spain 2.00 % 2.15 % 0.15 %

Switzerland 1.62 % 1.55 % –0.07 %

Sweden 1.51 % 1.49 % –0.02 %

Turkey 1.08 % 1.37 % 0.24 %

Romania 1.13 % 1.24 % 0,16 %

China 1.06 % 1.19 % 0.10 %

Ukraine 1.09 % 1.02 % –0.05 %

Resource: CSO
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To raise funds, the Bank primarily issues bonds under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme (hereinafter the “EMTN

Programme”) for funding over one year, and the Euro Commercial Paper Programme (hereinafter the “ECP Programme”)

for short-term financing of up to one year. The use of these two programmes is combined,  so that the Bank always has

sufficient funds in an appropriate structure in order to secure its financing offer to Czech exporters and to settle its liabilities

on a continuous basis. In addition to the required financing period, the current situation on the financial markets is taken

into account and besides the capital market instruments, interbank borrowings are used, as and when needed.  

The EMTN Programme currently amounts to EUR 4 billion and is used to cover the increasing number of loans

denominated in EUR and USD. This programme is advantageous mainly for its flexibility, a relatively fast execution of

individual transactions and an inverstor portfolio diversification . Under the EMTN programme, six new issues in the amount

of EUR 640 million and CZK 1,800 million were performed in 2013. In total, there was an equivalent of  EUR 2.94 billion

drawn under the EMTN programme as of 31 December 2013.

In June 2013, the Bank carried out another public bond issue under the EMTN Programme in the amount of 

EUR 250 million. The issue was positively accepted by investors – during the issuance there were more than fifty interested

buyers. As such, the demand exceeded the offered volume by almost three times and the Bank managed to make 

a significant step forward in diversifying its investors.

In order to optimise the Bank’s liquidity management, in 2011 the ECP Programme was concluded for the issuance of

short-term securities. The amount of this facility remains the same, ie EUR 400 million. This programme enables flexible

coverage of short-term liquidity needs of the Bank using favourable price conditions on the market. In 2013, thirty-seven

issuances of such short-term bonds were performed.

ČEB bonds are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The list of the Bank’s bonds outstanding as of 31 December 2013,

including their issuance date, is attached in the notes to the financial statements. 

The rating of ČEB and its issued bonds is set by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s on a contractual basis. ČEB acknowledges

that Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s are rating agencies registered in accordance with Regulation (EC) No.1060/2009 of

16 September 2009, on Credit Rating Agencies. ČEB discloses information on the current rating of issued bonds on its website.

As of 31 December 2013, the Bank’s outstanding bonds have the following ratings:  

Standard & Poor's Moody's

Foreign currency – long-term payables AA– Foreign currency – long-term payables A1

Local currency – long-term payables AA Local currency – long-term payables A1

Short-term payables A–1+ Short-term payables P–1

Outlook stable Outlook stable
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For the Bank’s activities, the country risk classification published by OECD remains important. The loan portfolio

structure proves to what extent ČEB fulfils its mission of financing exports, predominantly towards the countries with 

a medium and  high degree of territorial risk, which do not belong to the key target group for the commercial banks

providing export financing. 

2.1.4. Newly-Introduced Products and Activities

In 2013, the Bank continued adapting its programmes and products to develop an efficient tool in respecting to the

specific features of the small and medium-sized enterprise segment. Such an efficient tool is supposed to help

accomplish one of the strategic goals in supporting small and medium-size denterprises, ie the growth of the share

of small and medium-sized exporters in the Czech Republic’s total exports.

Therefore, in 2013, the Bank continuously modified its programmes and products by using selected forms of export

financing that will help achieve one of the Bank’s strategic goals with regard to the specific features of this segment.

These on-going activities included the conclusion of a key agreement on the terms of co-operation in providing

support to small and medium-sized enterprises between ČEB and another commercial bank. 

Such agreements are in line with the Bank’s programme for the support of exporters’ sub-contractors under which 

an export credit guarantee is provided . Under this initiative, the Pro-export Guarantee product is rendered. This Bank’s

payment guarantee is issued in favour of commercial banks and serves as an efficient and simple hedging instrument.

The major goal of this instrument is to provide a guarantee for the repayment of the principal of loans granted 

by commercial banks  to their clients - sub-contractors of the end–exporters, whose export transaction is financed 

by ČEB.

Another key document supporting small and medium-sized enterprises is the Business Representation Agreement of

24 September 2013 concluded with Českomoravská záruční a rozvojová banka, a.s. This agreement enables to expand

the Bank’s distribution channels all across the Czech Republic as the employees of relevant partner banks become

a significant part of the tool for acquiring new clients. These employees actively contribute to the attainment of the

Bank’s strategic goals.

In 2013, CEB obtained   a Licence to Perform Activities of an Invetment Firm, which is a significant change in the Bank’s

activities. This licence allows to expand the services provided by the Bank to its clients on derivative transactions.

* and not classified
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These transactions enable  to offset the risks arising from the clients’ currency and interest rate positions. Through this

step, the Bank has extended its service portfolio focusing on the support of export financing and designed a

comprehensive offer that can be tailored to each client’s individual needs. Also, another important benefit is hedging

against the risks to which the Bank’s clients are exposed. This is reflected by increased prudence in providing credits

with minimal risk rise.

In addition to the investment advisory, the Bank has developed an option of closing its clients’ market exposures using

the following derivative financial instruments: foreign exchange forwards, foreign exchange swaps, forward rate

agreements, interest rate swaps, and cross-currency swaps. These are provided by a specialised department of the

Bank – the Treasury Department. Furthermore, the Bank offers its customers to fulfil their reporting obligation under

EMIR.

2.1.5. Financial Results, Business Results, Assets and Liabilities 

a) Assets and Liabilities 

ČEB’s total assets amounted to CZK 95,324 million in 2013, which represents a year-on-year increase of 14 %. The

balance sheet structure has been stable in the long term. The balance sheet items are derived from the development

in estimated asset transactions to which liabilities are adjusted.

Funding 

ČEB finances its business activities mainly through liabilities in form of payables to financial institutions and non-banking

entities, which represent 95 % of the total volume of its funds. The key source of funding is the issuance of bonds

denominated in foreign currencies and in Czech crowns. As of 31 December 2013, the bonds amounted to CZK 83,906

million and fully covered the Bank’s needs related to loans. In 2013, the Bank continued to use its EMTN Programme

for the issuance of bonds, which, in combination with the ECP Programme (for the issuance of commercial papers

with a maturity of up to one year), increases the borrowing efficiency and flexibility even in the period of financial

instability. 

The Bank increases its funding base by received loans in form of liability deposit transactions, repurchase transactions

and long-term borrowings from credit institutions. As of 31 December 2013, the funds raised from those sources amounted

to CZK 1,394 million. Deposits received from clients amounted to approximately CZK 2,035 million and played a secondary

role in the Bank’s supported funding process.

The reported total volume of the Bank’s equity is CZK 4,499 million. Any gains and losses from the revaluation of liabilities

arising from interest rate swaps used by ČEB to manage its interest rate risk are recognised as part of equity under IFRS.
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4.7 % Equity 
3.7 % Other liabilities
2.1 % Deposits received from clients
1.5 % Received loans

88.0 % Issue

Structure of liabilities in 2013

Liabilities Balance at Balance at Year-on-year
in CZK million 31. Dec 2012 31. Dec 2013 index

Column 1 Column 2 Col. 2/ Col. 1*100

Financial liabilities held for trading 421 541 128,50

Financial liabilities at amortised cost and guaranted liabilities 76 336 87 393 114,48

of which:  Financial institutions 3 467 1 394 40,21

v tom: Payables to clients 4 726 2 035 43,06

v tom:  Payables not classified by sector 55 58 105,45

v tom:  Payables arising from issued debt securities 68 088 83 906 123,23

Hedging derivatives with negative fair value 2 411 2 278 94,48

Other liabilities 49 41 83,67

Provisions 33 41 124,24

Current income tax liabilities 2 531 26 550,00

Total liabilities 79 252 90 825 114,60

Share capital 4 000 4 000 100,00

Revaluation reserve (1 108) (649) 58,57

Statutory reserve 726 730 100,55

Other special funds 541 620 114,60

Accumulate loss/retained earnings 83 (202) (243,37)

Total equity 4 242 4 499 106,06

Total liabilities and equity 83 494 95 324 114,17

3 467
1 394

CZK‘m

68 088
83 906

2 971
3 490

4 242
4 499

4 726
2 035

1

2

3

4

5

Development in main categories of liabilities in 2012 and 2013 

2012
2013

2012
2013

2012
2013

2012
2013

2012
2013

1   Loans received
2   Issue of bonds
3   Other payables 

4   Total equity
5   Payables clients
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Use of Funds 

The major part of the assets are receivables arising from loans. Their share in the total volume of assets is 90,0 %. As 

a result of the successful realisation of the Bank’s business strategy, the value of all receivables in the loan portfolio

as reported in the balance sheet increased year-on-year by 16,8 % to CZK 85,846 million. Long-term receivables from

loans provided to non-bank clients saw the most significant increase. As expected, receivables arising from loans

provided to financial institutions, most of which are currently at the repayment stage, slightly decreased. 

Temporarily available funds that were not used for loans, and funds from the equity are invested on the financial

market in interbank transactions, including reverse repurchase transactions with the central bank. Also during 2013,

in line with its strategy, ČEB continued to invest its available funds in high-value and liquid Czech and foreign securities.

At the end of the reporting period, such investments amounted to CZK 7,231 million. In order to obtain flexible funds

to cover a part of its financing needs, ČEB executed repurchase transactions with selected Czech banks in 2013, from

which it obtained funds in exchange for the pledge of securities.

Assets Balance at Balance at Year-on-year
in CZK million  31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2012 index

Column 1 Column 2 Col. 2/ Col. 1*100

Cash and balances with central banks 632 39 6,17

Financial instruments held for trading 162 74 45,68

Financial instruments available-for-sale 5 700 5 431 95,28

Loans and other receivables 73 475 85 846 116,84

Of which: receivables from loans 68 586 79 354 115,70

other receivables 4 889 6 492 132,79

Financial instruments held to maturity 2 600 1 800 69,23

Of which: pledged assets 0 0 100,00

Positive fair value hedging derivatives 192 87 45,31

Equipment 28 49 175,00

Intangible assets 82 56 68,29

Other assets 329 1 569 476,90

Deferred income tax asset 294 373 126,87

Total assets 83 494 95 324 114,17

90,0 % Loans and other receivables

Structure of assets in 2013

5,7 % Financial instruments 
available-for-sale

2,3 % Other assets
1,9 % Financial instruments held 

to maturity
0,1 % Financial instruments 

available-for-sale
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Generation of Profits 

In 2013, ČEB generated a gross profit of CZK 307 million. After deducting the preliminary due income tax of CZK 509

million, the Bank incurred a net loss of CZK 202 million. The high tax liability results from the legal changes that stipulate

the insurance benefits received from EGAP as tax deductible income and the related provisions as tax non-deductible

expenses.

Based on its business activities in 2013, the Bank reported interest income of CZK 3,475 million, ie a year-on-year

decrease of 1.8 %. The predominant part of the interest income (87%) represents the interest on loans and other

receivables, specifically on loans provided to non-bank clients, which amounted to CZK 2,996 million. The Bank raises

the funds necessary for its business activities from financial and capital markets. In 2013, interest expenses associated

with such funds amounted to CZK 2,478 million, which is a year-on-year decrease of 10.8%. The year-on-year decrease

in funding expenses despite the increase in their aggregate volume results from the successful fund-raising strategy,

including implementation of new products thereof (ECP Programme) and the currently low interest rates.

Interest expenses pertaining to issued bonds in the amount of CZK 1,483 million represent the largest portion of the

funding expenses. The risk of interest rate fluctuation with regard to the funds raised on capital markets is hedged by

interest-rate derivatives. In 2013, a temporary loss of CZK 962 million was incurred on these in respect of the level 

of interest rates. The net interest income for 2013 was a positive amount of CZK 997 million.

Another significant component of the financial result is the net operating income of CZK 2,298 million. It consists of the

entitlement to the State budget subsidy for the officially net-operating export financing in the amount of CZK 2,187 million, 

net profit from financial transactions in the amount of CZK 100 million, and other operating income in the amount 

of CZK 11 million.

For its operations, the Bank incurred cost in the amount of CZK 467 million, including administrative cost of CZK 354

million, depreciation of tangible and intangible assets in the amount of CZK 42 million and the cost of administration

of problematic assets in the amount of CZK 64 million. Operating reserves were established in the amount of CZK 

7 million.

A significant part of the financial result for 2013 are charges for provisioning in the amount of CZK 2,576 million. 

The significant provisioning requirement arose following intensive negotiations with EGAP.

The difference arising from financing that receives state support reported in line with Act 58/1995 Coll. is covered from the

State Budget. Pursuant to this Act, the state support consists mainly of the net balance between the interest income gained

from the loans provided to banking and non-banking entities under the conditions that are common on international

markets for officially supported export credits and the costs incurred for raising funds on the financial markets, plus the costs

of provisioning for selected loan receivables. In 2013, ČEB claimed subsidies in the amount of CZK 2,187 million.

73 475
85 846

CZK’m

162
74

5 700
5 431

2 600
1 800

1 557
2 173

1

2

3

4

5

Development in individual categories of assets in 2012 and 2013

2012
2013

2012
2013

2012
2013

2012
2013

2012
2013

1   Loans and other receivables
2   Financial instruments held for trading

3   Financial instruments  available-for-sale
4   Financial instruments  held-to-maturity

5   Other assets
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Profit/Loss Balance at Balance at Year-on-year 
in CZK’m 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 index

Column 1 Column 2 Col. 2/Col. 1

Net interest income 760 997 131,18

Net fee and commission income 31 55 177,42

Net operating income 543 2 298 423,20

Of which: state subsidies 636 2 187 343,87

Operating costs (428) (467) 109,11

Impairment losses on loans (643) (2 576) 400,62

Profit before income tax 263 307 116,73

Income tax expense (180) (509) 282,78

Net loss/profit for the year 83 (202) (243,37)

Factors influencing ČEB’s Economic and Financial Position in 2014

The ČEB’s business and financial outlook is based on the estimations of both internal and external key factors affecting

its activities, as stated below:

n The tension on the financial markets may alleviate in 2014. In the Eurozone countries, the first signs of an economic

recovery are apparent and the developments in the BRIC countries – and also in the USA – indicate that this

recovery will not be only of a temporary and short-term nature. As such, during 2014 the Bank anticipates gradual

improvement of the macro-economic environment. However, negative signals have been perceived from the 

so-far unclear and complicated situation on the Ukrainian market. Therefore, it is necessary that the Bank take this

situation into account in its medium-term planning. 

n Based on all published economic forecasts for 2014, Czech export is expected to remain  a decisive and de facto

the only factor having a positive impact on the generation of the Czech GDP. The Bank anticipates that the export

to  the countries outside the EU 27 will increase in 2014. Moreover, these are the countries where the Bank plans to

provide the export financing.

n The level of global disproportion will probably decrease in 2014. The Bank anticipates additional decreases in the

risk margins and the commencement of a gradual and slow growth of basic rates.

n With regard to the currency structure of the total principal of all provided loans and the purchased receivables, the

proportion between EUR and USD, will be maintained. The aggregate share of these items will be maintained at

approximately 97 % in 2014. With regard to the development of macro-economic indicators of the Czech Republic,

the foreign exchange rate policy of the Czech National Bank until 2015, and the ongoing problems in the Eurozone,

the Bank anticipates the stabilization of the CZK/EUR exchange rate at an aproximate level between CZK 27.00 and

CZK 27.50 per EUR 1 in 2014. The development of the CZK/USD exchange rate will depend on the development of

the EUR/USD exchange rate. The decisive factor of the latter will be the rate of change of the FED policy when

modifying its currently loose monetary policy. As the proportion of USD as the contractual currency of the aggregate

loans provided by the Bank is significantly lower, there is no significant impact on the development of the Bank’s

financial indicators  expected. The Bank anticipates a slight USD/CZK appreciation for 2014.

n With regard to the Bank’s closed foreign exchange position, CEB expects that the developlment of the foreign

exchange rates will not have any impact on its operations.

n In terms of regulations applicable to banking activities as such, the Bank will adapt its internal circumstances to

the requirements set out by Regulation 23/2014 Coll., on the Business of Banks, Savings Banks and Credit

Associations and Securities Brokers, as amended on 30 January 2014. Other relevant legal norms applicable to

the Bank’s activity include the act that is currently in the legislative procedure and is being discussed by the

Chamber of Deputies of the Parliament of the Czech Republic, ie an act amending Act 21/1992 Coll., on Banks

and Act 256/2004 Coll., on Capital Market Undertakings.

2.2.
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The objectives and outlook of ČEB’s financial position, business activities and financial results in the economic and

financial areas for 2014:

The Bank is entering 2014 with a vision of further enhancement and expansion of its client portfolio and strengthening its

role in export promotion. The Bank has thoroughly reviewed its loan procedure and based on the results of the analysis

and in line with the Bank’s medium-term strategy ČEB aims to:

n Focus on entities with an export potential based on a competitive export programme;

n Increase the number of directly-financed Czech exporters, mainly small and medium-sized enterprises;

n Create appropriate personal and organisational prerequisites for the Bank to finance Czech exports, particularly

to the high-priority countries stated in the Czech Pro-export State Policy;

n Maintain the risks related to financing new transactions at an acceptable level and continuously review possibilities

of their risk diversification in co-operation with the commercial banking sector; to actively address the commercial

banking sector, especially in form of the joint financing of large transactions;

n Use efficiently the existing foreign currency and time structure of raised funds based on a large investor basis; in

addition to the existing markets, to offer bonds on a public market in order to secure transparency of offerings and

take steps leading to the reduction of financial and other expenses related to raising funds;

n Seek opportunities to improve the loan portfolio quality by using instruments regularly used in the commercial

banking sector;

n Secure conditions for the efficient and orderly collection of receivables the collection of which is at risk and, under

this effort, intensify the co-operation with EGAP; and

n Seek a more efficient use of funds allocated from the Czech Republic’s State Budget for export support through 

a reasonable pricing policy, and continuously strive for the prerequisites favorable for a stable profit-generating

business in the long term.
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z z z 3. NARRATIVE PART 

3.1. Risks to Which the Bank is Exposed, Objectives and Methods of Risk Management 

Risk Factors 

The risk management concept in the Bank in all risk management segments is based on the rules of prudent

operation determined by the regulator. In its risk management, the Bank maintains the principle of a limited risk

profile, which is based on the system of internal limits for individual types of risk, product, and debtor.

The risk management process in the Bank is independent of its business units. The executive unit for risk

management is the Risk Management Division. The Credit Risk Management Department has been charged with

managing credit risk relating to individual transactions. The Bank’s Risk Management Division manages credit risk

at the portfolio level, market risks, operational risks, liquidity risks, concentration risks, and risks relating to information

systems operations. The risk management process is supervised by the Board of Directors of the Bank, which is

regularly informed about risk exposures. The Board of Directors determines and regularly assesses the accepted

level of risk, including credit risk, market risk, operational risk, concentration and liquidity risk.

In order to comply with the statutory obligation in the planning and on-going maintenance of the internally

determined capital in the amount, structure, and distribution that is sufficient to cover all risks to which the Bank is

or may be exposed, the Bank maintains the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). Methods used

to assess and measure individual risks included in the ICAAP that are used in relation to its risk profile are approved

by the Board of Directors. Quantifiable risks are assessed in the form of internally-determined capital needs. Other

risks in ICAAP are covered by qualitative measures in risk management, organisation of processes, and control

mechanisms (Code of Ethics, communication policy etc.). The internal capital adequacy in 2013 was sufficient to

cover the risks to which the Bank is exposed. 

During 2013, ČEB reported one instance of exceeding the limit for large exposure within an economically-linked

group. In respect of this group, the reasonable time limit to settle the security arising from an insured event exceeded

the reasonable deadline determined by the regulator, ie the Czech National Bank. As of 31 December 2013, the

Bank did not exceed any regulatory limits.

Individual types of risk are managed in compliance with the legislation in force, regulations of the Bank and best

practice principles.

3.1.1. Credit Risk 

Credit risk, ie the risk of suffering losses owing to a counter-party’s default in meeting its obligations under a credit

agreement, based on which ČEB has become the contractual party’s creditor, is managed by the following credit

risk evaluation system:

n Debtor’s risk management 

– Assessing and monitoring the debtor’s credit rating and determining the debtor’s internal rating; 

– Monitoring the relations of entities and the structure of financially related entities;

– Determining the limit applicable to the debtor or financially related group of entities;

– Monitoring credit exposure with respect to entities or financially- or otherwise-related groups of entities; and

– Classifying receivables, provisioning and charges for reserves.

n Transaction risk management 

– Assessing and monitoring of specific risk of transactions in terms of the quality of collateral and determining

the acceptable level of collateral; and

– Regular on-site visits.

n Portfolio risk management 

– Monitoring the portfolio credit risk; 
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– Regular stress testing of the portfolio credit risk; and

– Determining the limits to mitigate the portfolio credit risk.

n Credit risk concentration management 

– Concentration risk in ČEB principally arises from credit risk concentration;

– Monitoring the credit risk concentration in terms of the debtor’s country of export and industry; and 

– Determining limits to mitigate the credit risk concentration.

To minimise credit risk in providing supported financing, ČEB employs standard credit risk reduction techniques

such as EGAP credit risk insurance. At present, ČEB uses no credit derivatives to minimise credit risk.

For credit risk and concentration risk, ČEB maintains an established management system that monitors the tracked

exposures on a daily basis, comparing them against limits designated by the regulator or derived from acceptable

risk levels. The results of the credit portfolio analyses including the results of the stress testing of the portfolio credit

risk are submitted, on a regular basis, to senior managers in charge of risk management.

3.1.2. Market Risk 

Market risk is a risk of suffering losses owing to changes in market factors, ie prices, exchange rates and interest rates

on financial markets. Market risk management in ČEB is a process that includes identifying, measuring, and

performing an on-going review of the application of limits, and analysing and reporting, on a regular basis,

individual risks to ČEB’s committees and management so as to manage negative financial impacts potentially

resulting from these adverse changes in market prices.

ČEB is not exposed to risk on shares and commodity risk. To manage foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, ČEB uses

the following methods:

n Interest rate risk management 

– Gap analysis;

– Duration analysis; and 

– Sensitivity factor analysis, limits for individual currencies.

n Foreign currency risk management 

– Sensitivity factors analysis, limits for individual currencies.

n Aggregate market risk management 

– Value at Risk (VaR) – ČEB uses a historical method and the covariance-variance method with a confidence

level of 99%, with a 10-day outlook based on a 260-day history. 

To minimise foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, ČEB currently uses currency forwards and swaps. 

To manage market risk, ČEB maintains an established management system that monitors risk exposure on a daily

basis, comparing it against limits derived from acceptable risk levels. 

3.1.3. Refinancing Risk 

To monitor refinancing risk, the Bank measures the impact on the Bank’s profit/loss account of increased interest

expenses arising from an increased credit spread that the Bank would have to incur to become sufficiently liquid

during the global downturn.

The Bank manages the refinancing risk by appropriately structuring received funds (primarily their maturities and

volumes). 
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3.1.4. Liquidity Risk 

To manage liquidity risk, ČEB maintains an established management system that monitors liquidity status and outlook

on a daily basis, comparing them against determined limits. The basic pre-condition of liquidity risk management

involves securing survival for at least two months.

n Liquidity risk is managed by:

– Measuring and comparing the inflow and outflow of cash, ie monitoring net cash flows for a period at least

five working days in advance;

– Gap analyses that measure the maximum cumulated outflow of cash and limits in individual currencies and

time gaps;

– Survival period monitoring; and;

– Quarterly measurements using worst-case scenarios (stress testing). 

ČEB has a set of liquidity indicators in place to manage the structure of assets and liabilities, ie the required structure

of funds aligned with the structure of granted loans, loan commitments and issued guarantees, the minimal volumes

of quickly-liquid assets and liquid reserves. 

To deal with liquidity problems under extraordinary circumstances, ČEB has emergency plans in place. In 2013, ČEB

had no problems ensuring sufficient liquidity. 

3.1.5. Operational Risk 

ČEB manages the risk of losses arising from the inappropriateness or failure of internal processes, human error or

failures of systems or the risk of loss arising from external events including the risk of losses owing to the breach of

or non-compliance with legal regulations. The key tool ČEB uses to manage its operational risk is the early warning

system, which is based on the system of risk indicators and warning limits that signal the greater probability of the

occurrence of certain operational risks.

In 2013 ČEB mapped its internal processes, including operational risk assessment in the form of self-assessment and

set the acceptable operational risk appetite.

The total number of operational risks identified in 2013 and their impact arose principally from the events relating

to the credit activities of ČEB that took place between 2005 and 2008 and that had a considerable impact on the

provisions for impaired receivables in 2013. The events as such had no significant impact on the operations of ČEB

in terms of volume or amount in 2013. 

3.1.6. Capital Adequacy and Capital Requirements 

12/31/2013

Capital Adequacy 46.56%

12/31/2013 mill. CZK

Capital 5 092

Original capital (Tier1) 5 092

Paid-in share capital registered in the Register of Companies 4 000

Reserves and retained earnings 1 349

Mandatory reserves 731

Other funds arising from distribution of earnings 619

Other deductible items from the original capital –56

Intangible assets other than goodwill –56
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Risk Factors Potentially Impacting the Capacity of ČEB to fulfill their Liabilities to Investors arising from Securities 

The capacity of ČEB to meet its liabilities under securities to investors is unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed

by the state pursuant to Act No. 58/1995 Coll., on Insuring and Financing Exports with State Support.

Remuneration of Persons with Managing Powers 

With regard to the application of the proportionality principle, the ČEB has not set up a Remuneration Committee

and no part of remuneration is paid out in non-pecuniary instruments to persons with managing powers. 

In 2013, the ČEB regarded the following persons as having managing powers: members of the Board of Directors,

members of the Supervisory Board and the Deputy CEO who is in charge of managing the Legislation and

International Relations Division and is not a member of the Board of Directors.

Members of the Board of Directors hold the positions of the CEO and Deputy-CEOs for the respective areas of the

Bank’s activities they are entrusted with (refer to Section 1.5 Administrative, Management and Supervisory Bodies

of ČEB and Related Committees). Members of the Board of Directors perform their job obligations with due

managerial care, diligence and with necessary knowladge. Members of the Board of Directors are not remunerated

for holding the office of a member of the Board of Directors. They receive remuneration for the work performed in

the positions of CEO and Deputy CEOs within the framework of their employment contract. The Deputy CEO, who

is not a member of the Board of Directors, receives remuneration for the work performed in this position. 

On 23 November 2010, the General Meeting approved the Remuneration Principles for ČEB’s Managers and

Members of the ČEB’s Bodies (hereinafter the “Principles”), in which it established the remuneration structure for

managers and members of the ČEB’s bodies, authorized the Supervisory Board to determine the position to which

the Principles are applied and determine the amount of remuneration. On 24 February 2011, the Supervisory Board

12/31/2013 CZK’m

Type of exposure Total exposure Average per year

Exposure in respect of central governments and banks 17 744 17 460

Exposure in respect of institutions 42 768 45 106

Corporate exposure 74 822 77 814

Overdue exposure 10 734 9 546

Short-term exposure in respect of institutions and current corporate exposures 8 151 4 310

Other exposures 2 335 1 429

12/31/2013 CZK’m

Total capital requirements 875

Total capital requirements in respect of credit risk 731

Total capital requirements in respect of credit risk under STA 731

Total capital requirements in respect of credit risk under STA in respect of exposures 731

Capital requirements under STA in respect of exposures to central governments and banks 56

Capital requirements under STA in respect of exposures to institutions 135

Capital requirements under STA in respect of corporate exposures 319

Capital requirements under STA in respect of overdue exposures 94

Capital requirements under STA in respect of exposures in covered bonds 4

Capital requirements under STA in respect of current exposures to institutions and corporate exposures 110

Capital requirements under STA in respect of other exposures 13

Capital requirements under STA in respect of foreign exchange risk 9

Total capital requirements in respect of operational risk 135

Capital requirements in respect of operational risk under BIA 135

3.2.

3.3.
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3.4.

determined the positions to which the Principles are applied. The positions include the CEO and Deputy CEO, who

are members of the Board of Directors. For these persons, the Supervisory Board determined the following: 

a) The maximum total annual costs of their position, broken down into the base component and the variable

component of their remuneration, separately for the Chairman in the position of CEO, two Vice-Chairmen in the

positions of Deputy-CEOs and two Members of the Board of Directors in the positions of Deputy-CEOs; 

b) The proportion of the annual variable component of remuneration at 20% of the aggregate annual cost of the

position in the Bank’s Board of Directors; 

c) The proportion of the medium-term variable component of remuneration at 30% of the aggregate annual cost

of the position in the Bank’s Board of Directors, the entitlement for which is postponed by three years. 

The Deputy CEO, who is not a member of the Board of Directors, is an employee with a significant share in ČEB’s

aggregate risk profile, and therefore, the Supervisory Board proposed to the Board of Directors the amount and

structure of the Deputy CEO’s remuneration in line with the Principles; the Principles were approved by the Board

of Directors. The Deputy CEO’s annual remuneration is broken down into the base component and the variable

component, which make up 50% and 50%, respectively. No part of the variable component is deferred.

The variable component of the CEO’s and Deputy-CEO’s remuneration depends on the achievement of pre-defined

objectives (the Key Performance Indicators; “KPIs”), containing performance (number of contracts signed in the

prescribed volume and territorial structure), risk (such as the quality of loan portfolio) and other (such as involvement

in foreign structures, access to foreign sources of loan funding) parameters. KPIs for the assessment of the annual

portion of the variable component of the remuneration and KPIs for the assessment of the medium-term portion of the

variable component of remuneration for the members of the Board of Directors are proposed by the Board 

of Directors and approved by the Supervisory Board. The KPIs are assessed on an annual basis after the end of the

assessed year and are based on the results as of 31 December of the assessed year. With regard to the deferred

medium-term variable portion of the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors, the results as 

of 31 December for the third year are assessed. The assessment is approved by the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board consists of nine members. Six members of the Supervisory Board are elected by the General

Meeting and include persons proposed by the shareholder. These persons are employees of those ministries that

exercise the State’s shareholder rights; they are not employees of ČEB and do not receive any remuneration from

ČEB for their membership in the Supervisory Board pursuant to Section 303 (3) of Act 262/2006 coll., Labour Code.

The other three Supervisory Board members are elected from amongst the employees by the employees

themselves. In 2013, the three Supervisory Board members received no remuneration for their membership and are

remunerated for the job position held. All persons with managing power declared that:

n They did not misuse their positions in the Bank or the information available to them to gain benefits that they could

not have otherwise gained for themselves or for other persons; 

n They did not realise any transactions with investment instruments of the Bank’s client on their own account or on

the account of a near person;

n They did not give instructions or recommendations to other persons regarding transactions with investment instruments

of the Bank’s clients, which other persons could use for investment instrument business on their own account; and

n They avoided all activities that could place them in a possible conflict of interests. 

Shareholder’s Meeting on 12 December 2013 approved the Policy for Remunerating Senior Executives and members

of the bodies of CEB, which, with effect from 1 January 2014, replace the Policy approved by the Shareholder’s

Meeting on 23 November 2013.

Received Income of Directors with Managing Powers in Cash and in Kind for 2013

Income of persons with managing powers Members of the Members of the Other persons with
received from the issuer (ČEB) Board of Directors Supervisory Board managing powers
in CZK thousand

In cash 19 347 4 199 4 655

In kind 3 833 68 129

Total 23 180 4 267 4 784
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Given that the Bank does not control any other entities, the individuals specified in the table above received no

income in cash or in kind from controlled entities.

Information Regarding Codes 

The Corporate Governance Code of Česká exportní banka, a.s. (hereinafter the “Code”) originates from the Corporate

Governance Code of Companies, which is based on the OECD principles (2004), and deviations from its principles

are listed in the text. The Code is publicly available in Czech on ČEB’s website:

http://www.ceb.cz/_sys_/FileStorage/download/1/181/kodex_spravy_a_rizeni_ceb2011.pdf

Description of the Decision-Making Process with Regard to the Bank’s Bodies and Committees 

3.6.1. General Meeting 

The General Meeting, taking place at least once a year, has a quorum if the shareholders present hold shares in

the total nominal value of greater than 50% of the share capital of the Bank. If the General Meeting does not have

a quorum, the Board shall call a substitute General Meeting.

The General Meeting votes by acclamation unless the General Meeting decides otherwise. The General Meeting

adopts the decisions by a majority of the votes by the shareholders present, unless the Commercial Code, other

legal regulations and Articles require a larger majority; completing or changing the Articles, increasing or

decreasing the share capital and dissolving the Bank may be decided at the General Meeting if approved by the

votes of at least two-thirds of the shareholders present.  At General Meetings, proposals presented by the Board of

Directors are voted on first and subsequently counter-proposals are voted on in the order as submitted.

The state’s shareholder rights are executed by the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Industry and Trade, the Ministry

of Foreign Affairs and the Ministry of Agriculture.

Upon making decisions, the ministries vote and adopt the shareholders’ decisions by the majority of all votes of the

voting ministries, which are not votes per share pursuant to Section 4 (2) of the Articles. To stipulate the majority of votes,

the votes are divided as follows: Ministry of Finance 52 votes;

Ministry of Industry and Trade 30 votes;

Ministry of Foreign Affairs 12 votes; 

Ministry of Agriculture 6 votes.

3.6.2. Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors consists of five members who are natural persons. 

In 2013, meetings of the Board of Directors took place as necessary, usually once a week and at least on a monthly

basis. The Board of Directors decides by resolutions; it has a quorum if at least three of its members are present. Each

member of the Board of Directors has one vote. Resolutions of the Board of Directors are adopted by a majority of

all members of the Board of Directors, ie by at least three votes. Resolutions concerning each issue on the agenda

are voted on individually. Firstly, proposals made by the Chairman of the Board of Directors are voted on, followed

by voting on the counter-proposals, in the order as submitted.  

In urgent cases that cannot be delayed, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, or the authorised Vice Chairman,

if the Chairman is not present, may initiate a per rollam resolution. The per rollam resolution is adopted if at least

four members of the Board of Directors vote and approve the resolution by voting. 
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3.6.3. Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board consists of nine members who are natural persons. 

Meetings of the Supervisory Board take place as necessary: at least four times a year, usually on a monthly basis.

The Supervisory Board decides by resolutions; it has a quorum if at least six of its members are present. Each member

of the Supervisory Board has one vote. Resolutions of the Supervisory Board are adopted by a majority of all

members of the Supervisory Board, ie by at least five votes, except for electing or dismissing a member of the Board

of Directors – the resolution requires at least six votes from the members of the Supervisory Board. Resolutions

concerning each issue on the agenda are voted on individually. Firstly, proposals made by the Chairman of the

Supervisory Board are voted on, followed by voting on the counter-proposals, in the order as submitted. 

In urgent cases that cannot be delayed, ie in exceptional cases that cannot wait until the next meeting of the

Supervisory Board, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, or the Vice-chairman of the Supervisory Board, if the

Chairman is not present, or the Chairman of the Board of Directors based on the request presented by the Chairman

of the Supervisory Board, or the Vice-chairman of the Supervisory Board, if the Chairman is not present, may initiate

a per rollam resolution. The per rollam resolution is adopted if at least seven members of the Supervisory Board

vote and at least six members of the Supervisory Board approve it by voting. Members of the Supervisory board can

neither be elected nor dismissed by a per rollam resolution.

3.6.4. Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee consists of three members who are natural persons. 

The meetings of the Audit Committee take place as necessary, usually once a month. The committee adopts

conclusions in the form of resolutions; it has a quorum if an absolute majority of its members are present, ie at least

two of its members, and each member has one vote. The Audit Committee adopts decisions by a majority of the

present members; in the event of equal votes, the vote of the Chairman has the casting vote. The committee may

also make a per rollam decision. 

3.6.5. Credit Committee 

The Credit Committee consists of five members who are natural persons.

Credit Committee meetings take place as necessary, usually once a week. The Credit Committee has a quorum if

at least three of its members are present. Each member has one vote. The Credit Committee adopts conclusions

by the voting of its members on the individual issues of the agenda. A resolution is adopted if approved by the

votes of at least three members.

3.6.6. Assets and Liabilities Management Commission (ALCO)

The ALCO consists of seven members who are natural persons.

ALCO meetings take place at least once a month. The ALCO Commission has a quorum if at least four of its

members are present at the meeting, of which one employee of the risk management section and one employee

of the financial section. The ALCO meeting cannot take place if neither the Chairman nor the Vice Chairman is

present. Each ALCO member has one vote. The ALCO adopts conclusions by the voting of its members on the

individual issues of the agenda. A proposal presented by the ALCO Chairman, or by the ALCO Vice Chairman, if

the Chairman is not present, is voted on first and subsequently the counterproposals are voted on in the order as

submitted. A resolution is adopted if approved by the votes of a simple majority of all members, ie at least by four

votes. In urgent cases that cannot be delayed, the ALCO Chairman, or the Vice Chairman, if the Chairman is not

present, may initiate a per rollam resolution. The per rollam resolution is adopted if at least five members vote and

at least four members approve it by voting, of which at least one representative of the 2000 section if the resolution

concerns selected issues specified in the ALCO Rules of Procedure.
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3.6.7. Information Technologies Development Commission (ITDC)

The ITCD consists of eight members – natural persons.

The ITDC meetings are usually organised on a quarterly basis, or more frequently, if needed. The meeting is chaired

by the Chairman or by the Vice Chairman, if the Chairman is not present. If neither the Chairman, nor the Vice

Chairman is present, the ITDC meeting cannot take place. The ITDC does not have a quorum unless the meeting

is attended by an absolute majority of members, ie at least five members. Each ITDC member has one vote. The

ITDC’s resolutions are adopted by a majority of all ITDC members, ie by at least five votes. 

3.6.8. Operational Risks Management Commission (ORCO)

The ORCO consists of seven members – natural persons.

The ORCO meetings are organised at least on a quarterly basis. The ORCO may adopt conclusions if the meeting

is attended by an absolute majority of members, ie at least five members of which at least one representative of

the risk management section. Each ORCO member has one vote. Conclusions on each issue on the agenda are

voted on individually. Firstly, a conclusion is voted on in respect of the proposal presented by the ORCO Chairman

and then on the counterproposals as they are submitted. The ORCO’s resolutions are adopted by a majority of all

ORCO members, ie by at least four votes.

Authorised Auditors 

In a 2009 tender, the Bank selected Deloitte Audit, s.r.o. to be its auditor. Deloitte Audit, s.r.o.’s registered office is located

at the following address: 

Nile House

Karolinská 654/2

186 00 Prague 8 – Karlín

Czech Republic 

This company was the auditor of ČEB in 2013 again. In 2013, Deloitte Audit, s.r.o. charged fees for activities performed

solely for ČEB as an issuer as follows:

Fees charged for: (in CZK thousand) Services provided in

2012 2013

Obligatory audit of the year-end financial statements 2 376 2 178

Other assurance services 1 182 690

Tax advisory 353 529

Other non-audit services 29 6

Total (in CZK thousand) 3 940 3 403

Court Proceedings and Arbitration 

The Bank Acting as a Defendant

1) Plaintiff: Mgr. Ing. Ivo Hala, insolvency trustee of ECM REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS A.G.

n Held at: Municipal Court in Prague, file No. MSPH 79 INS 6021/2011-C25-1/79 ICm 1427/2012

n Statement of claim: Claim for the determination of the ineffectiveness of a legal act

n Status as of 31 December 2013: No actions have been ordered so far

2) Plaintiff: Mgr. Ing. Ivo Hala, insolvency trustee of ECM REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS A.G.

n Held at: Municipal Court in Prague, file No. MSPH 79 INS 6021/2011-C21-1/79 ICm 1426/2012

n Statement of claim: Claim for the determination of the ineffectiveness of a legal act

n Status as of 31 December 2013: No actions have been ordered so far
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The Bank Acting as as a Plaintiff 

1) Defendants: Ing. Jaroslav Dostalík, Marek Sadil, Jiří Šťovíček

n Held at: Municipal Court in Prague, file No. 23Cm 228/2010, High Court in Prague, file No. 5 Cmo 270/2012

n Statement of claim: Proposal for the issuance of a compulsory payment order to pay a bill of exchange

n Disputed amount: CZK 2,319,304.44 incl. related costs;

n Status as of 31 December 2013: the Court of first instance in Prague ruled in favour of ČEB, the defendants filed

an appeal, a plea of prejudice and a claim for the cancelation of the resolution for nullity 

2) Defendant: LLC “Kuzmynetsky Brick Factory” (Ukraine)

n Held at: Kagarlic District Court in Kiev Region, ref. No. 368/337/13-c

n Statement of claim: Proposal for the issuance of an arbitration award

n Disputed amount: EUR 15,235,450 incl. related costs

n Status as of 31 December 2013: The proposal for the acknowledgement of an arbitration award was refiled

to the court, no ruling has been passed so far

3) Defendant: Compact Group Sh.p.k. (Kosovo)

n Held at: Arbitration Court at the Czech Chamber of Commerce and the Agrarian Chamber of the Czech

Republic, Rsp 1307/12

n Statement of claim: Proposal for the issuance of an arbitration award

n Disputed amount: EUR 1,364,527 incl. related costs

n Status as of 31 December 2013: Statement of claim filed, the arbitration is still pending at the Arbitration Court,

with the participation of the plaintiff and the defendant, final rejoinders were filed

4) Defendant: OOO „Kompania Progress” (Russian Federation)

n Held at: Arbitration Court at the Czech Chamber of Commerce and the Agrarian Chamber of the Czech

Republic, Rsp 2644/12

n Statement of claim: Proposal for the issuance of an arbitration award

n Disputed amount: EUR 31,024,876  incl. related costs

n Status as of 31 December 2013:  rejoinder to the plaintiffs’ reply was filed on 24 April  2013

5) Defendant: OOO Kompania Progress (Russian Federation) 

n Held at: Arbitration Court in Moscow file. No. A40-167694/13

n Statement of claim: Proposal for a pledge (pledge for moveable assets)   

n Status as of 31 December 2013: Statement of claim, receipt of a statement of claim

6) Defendant: S. V. Karapetyan 

n Held at: Czeremosz District Court of the City of Moscow

n Statement of claim: Proposal for a pledge (stock pledge)    

n Status as of 31 December 2013: Statement of claim

7) Defendant: L. G.  Ivashov   

n Held at: Czeremosz District Court of the City of Moscow

n Statement of claim: Proposal for a pledge (stock pledge)    

n Status as of 31 December 2013: Statement of claim

8) Defendant:  A. G. Gogolev  

n Held at: Gagarin District Court of the City of Moscow

n Statement of claim: Proposal for a pledge (stock pledge)

n Status as of 31 December 2013: Statement of claim

VZ_EN_13  26.5.14  10:47  Stránka 45



46

9) Defendant: Joint-Stock Commercial Interregional Fuel and Energy Bank  "MEZHTOPENERGOBANK"

n Held at: Arbitration Court at the Czech Chamber of Commerce and the Agrarian Chamber of the Czech

Republic, Rsp 140/13

n Statement of claim: Proposal for the issuance of an arbitration award

n Disputed amount: EUR 4,500,000 incl. related costs

n Status as of 31 December 2013: Statement of claim was filed, the arbitration is still pending at the Arbitration

Court, with the participation of the plaintiff and the defendant, final rejoinders were filed

10) Defendant: OOO IMEDI 2000 and ZAO Orechovo-zuevskaja stekolnaya kompaniya 

(guarantors of the debtor OOO Glasstrade, Pemba, Mari-El, Russia)

n Held at: Arbitration Court at the Czech Chamber of Commerce and the Agrarian Chamber of the Czech

Republic, Rsp 1402/13

n Statement of claim: Proposal for the issuance of an arbitration award

n Disputed amount: EUR 5,829,711.55 incl. related costs

n Status as of 31 December 2013: Statement of claim was filed, the date of the first hearing was set for 6

February 2014

11) Defendant: GEP Vologdaoblkommunenergo and GP VO Oblastniye Elektroteploseti

n Held at: Arbitration Court the Vologda Region, File. No.  А13-8528/2013

n Statement of claim: Petition for settlement

n Disputed amount: EUR 58,674,239.25 incl. related costs 

n Status as of 31 December 2013: Appeal proceedings 

12) Defendant: GEP Vologdaoblkommunenergo 

n Held at: Arbitration Court of the Vologda Region, file. No. А13-9182/2013 

n Statement of claim: Petition for the order of a seizure of the pledged moveable and immoveable property

n Disputed amount: EUR 58,674,239.25 incl. related costs

n Status as of 31 December 2013: The proceedings were interrupted

Contracts of Significance 

In 2013, the Bank concluded no significant contracts (except for the contracts concluded as part of the regular

business of an issuer) that could establish any liability or claim that would be significant with regard to the issuer’s

ability to meet its obligations towards the holders of the securities based on issued securities.

Declaration of the Issuer’s Authorised Persons 

The undersigned authorised persons of the Czech Export Bank (issuer) declare that to the best of their knowledge

the annual report gives a true and fair view of the Bank’s financial situation, business activities and profit or loss in

the previous reporting period, including the outlook of the financial situation, business activities and profit or loss.

In Prague on 24 March 2014

Ing. Jiří Klumpar Mgr. Luboš Vaněk 

Chairman of the Board of Directors Vice-chairman of the Board of Directors 

and CEO and Deputy CEO

3.9.

VZ_EN_13  27.5.14  15:21  Stránka 46



47

0CONTENTS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

0INCOME STATEMENT 49

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 49

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 50

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 51

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 52

1 GENERAL INFORMATION 53

2  ACCOUNTING POLICIES 53

(a) Basis of presentation 53

(b) Segment reporting 55

(c) Foreign currency translation 55

(d) Derivative financial instruments 55

(e) Interest income and expense 56

(f) Fee and commission income 56

(g) Financial assets 56

(h) Impairment of assets 57

(i) Sale and repurchase agreements 58

(j) Tangible and intangible assets 58

(k) Leases 59

(l) Cash and cash equivalents 59

(m) Employee benefits 59

(n) Taxation and deferred income tax 59

(o) Financial liabilities at amortized cost - borrowings 59

(p) Share capital 60

(q) State subsidy 60

(r) Provisions 60

(s) Guarantees and credit commitments 60

(t) Collateral and guarantees received 60

3  RISK MANAGEMENT 61

(a) Strategy in using financial instruments 61

(b) Credit risk 61

(c) Market risk 65

(d) Currency risk 66

(e) Interest rate risk 67

(f) Liquidity risk 68

(g) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 69

(h) Capital management 71

ČESKÁ EXPORTNÍ BANKA, A.S.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AS
ADOPTED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

z z z 4. FINANCIAL PART 

VZ_EN_13  26.5.14  10:47  Stránka 47



48

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES 72

(a) Impairment losses on loans 72

(b) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets 72

(c) State subsidy 72

(d) Income taxes 72

5 OPERATING SEGMENTS 72

6 NET INTEREST INCOME 74

7 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 74

8 NET PROFIT FROM FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 75

9 OPERATING COSTS 76

10 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON LOANS 76

11 INCOME TAX 77

12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 77

13 CASH AND BALANCES WITH THE CENTRAL BANK 77

14 LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 78

15 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 80

16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE AND HELD-TO-MATURITY 82

17 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 83

18 INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 83

19 OTHER ASSETS 83

20 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD AT AMORTIZED COST 84

21 OTHER LIABILITIES 86

22 PROVISIONS 86

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 86

24 SHARE CAPITAL 87

25 VALUATION DIFFERENCES 88

26  RESERVES 88

27 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 88

28 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 89

29  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 90

VZ_EN_13  26.5.14  10:47  Stránka 48



49

ČESKÁ EXPORTNÍ BANKA, A.S. / FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

INCOME STATEMENT

Under International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

Interest income 3 475 3 538

Interest expense (2 478) (2 778)

Net interest income 6 997 760 

Net fee and commission income 7 55 31 

Net profit from financial operations, including state subsidy 8 2 287 540 

Other operating earnings 11 3

Net operating income 2 298 543

Other administrative expenses (354) (340)

Other operating expenses (64) (34)

Amortisation and depreciation (42) (34)

Creation of reserves 22 (7) (20)

Operating costs 9 (467) (428)

Impairment losses on loans 10 (2 576) (643)

Profit before income tax 307 263 

Income tax expense 11 (509) (180)

Net loss / profit for the year (202) 83

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Under International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

Net loss / proft for the year (202) 83 

Unrealized net gains (losses) on the revaluation of assets and liabilities, net of tax 25 (43) 148 

Unrealised net gains (losses) on cash flow hedging instruments, net of tax 25 502 66 

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax

– items that can in the future be reclassified to the profit and loss 459 214 

Total comprehensive income 257 297

The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

VZ_EN_13  26.5.14  10:47  Stránka 49



50
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The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Under International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central bank 13 39 632 

Financial instruments held for trading 15 74 162 

Financial instruments available-for-sale 16 5 431 5 700 

Loans and receivables 14 85 846 73 475 

Financial instruments held-to-maturity 16 1 800 2 600 

Hedging derivatives with positive fair value 15 87 192 

Equipment 17 49 28 

Intangible assets 18 56 82 

Other assets 19 1 569 329  

Deferred income tax assets 23 373 294 

Total assets 95 324 83 494 

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities held for trading 15 541 421 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost and guaranteed liabilities 20 87 393 76 336 

Hedging derivatives with negative fair value 15 2 278 2 411 

Other liabilities 21 41 49 

Provisions 22 41 33 

Current income tax liabilities 531 2  

Total liabilities 90 825 79 252 

Share capital 24 4 000 4 000 

Revaluation reserve 25 (649) (1 108)

Statutory reserve 26 730 726 

Other special fund 26 620 541 

Accumulated loss / retained earnings (202) 83 

Total equity 4 499 4 242 

Total liabilities and equity 95 324 83 494 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Under International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

(CZK’m) Note Share Retained Statutory Export Revaluation Total
capital earnings reserve risk reserve reserve

At 1 January 2012 4 000 161 565 541 (1 322) 3 945 

Change in Available for sale securities, net of tax 25 – – – – 148 148 

Change in cash flow hedges, net of tax 25 – – – – 66 66 

Net profit for the year – 83 – – – 83 

Total recognised profit/(loss) – 83 – – 214 297 

Increase of share capital 24 – – – – – –

Transfer to other special fund 26 – – – – – –

Transfer to statutory reserve 26 – (161) 161 – – –

At 31 December 2012 4 000 83 726 541 (1 108) 4 242 

Change in Available for sale securities, net of tax 25 – – – – (43) (43)

Change in cash flow hedges, net of tax 25 – – – – 502 502 

Net loss for the year – (202) – – – (202)

Total recognised profit/(loss) – (202) – – 459 257 

Increase of share capital 24 – – – – – –

Transfer to other special fund 26 – (79) – 79 – –

Transfer to statutory reserve 26 – (4) 4 – – –

At 31 December 2013 4 000 (202) 730 620 (649) 4 499

51
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The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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ČESKÁ EXPORTNÍ BANKA, A.S. / FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Under International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 3 327 3 084 

Interest paid (2 920) (2 598)

Net fee and commission received 66 75

Net trading and other income (444) (314)

Recoveries on loans previously written off 1 275 644

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (323) (378)

Income tax paid (167) (203)

Other taxes paid (36) (31)

Net cash used in operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities 778 279

CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Net increase in loans to banks (474) (1 465)

Net increase in loans to customers (6 533) (3 686)

Net decrease in other liabilities (430) 202 

Net decrease in due to banks (1 717) (1 792)

Net decrease in due to customers (4 466) (2 056)

Net cash used in operating activities (12 842) (8 518)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of fixed assets (49) (38)

Purchase of securities (1 898) (5 003)

Proceeds from matured securities 1 444 290

Proceeds from sale of securities 1 661 1 972 

Net cash used in investing activities 1 158 (2 779)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from issue of bonds 28 270 23 053 

Redemption of issued bonds (17 350) (12 102)

Receipts of state subsidy 8 1 170 553 

Net cash from financing activities 12 090 11 504

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 19 (22)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 425 185 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12 5 478 5 293 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12 5 903 5 478
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1  /  GENERAL INFORMATION

Česká exportní banka, a.s. (“the Bank”) was established on 1 March 1995 and its registered address is Vodičkova 34/701, Prague 1. 

The Bank does not have any branches in the Czech Republic or abroad.

The Bank has a representative office in Moscow, which it opened in 2009 under the approval of the Central Bank of the Russian

Federation.

The Bank is authorized to provide banking services, which predominantly comprise accepting deposits from the public and granting

credits and guarantees in Czech and foreign currencies, issuing letters of credit, clearing and payment operations, trading on its own

account with financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies, with securities issued by foreign governments, with foreign

bonds and securities issued by the Czech government and the provision of investment services.

The activities of the Bank are primarily governed by Act No. 21/1992 Coll., on Banks, as amended, Act No. 256/2004 Coll., On Capital

Market, as amended, Act No. 58/1995 Coll., on Insurance and Financing Exports with State Subsidies (“Act No. 58/1995 Coll.”),and Act

No. 513/1991 Coll., Commercial Code, as amended. Concurrently, the Bank is subject to the CNB’s regulatory requirements.

The principal objective of the Bank is to provide financing of Czech exports and investments abroad supported by the Czech state in

accordance with European Union law and international rules - mainly through the provision of credit facilities and guarantees.

Pursuant to Act No. 58/1995 Coll., the provision of officially supported financing by the Bank is conditional upon the existence 

of collateral, unless export credit risk is insured by Exportní garanční a pojišťovací společností, a.s. (“EGAP”).

Pursuant to Act No. 58/1995 Coll., the Czech state is liable for the obligations of the Bank of repayment of funds obtained from banks

and other liabilities of the Bank's operations in the financial markets. The condition for providing officially supported financing is the

fact that at least two thirds of the Bank’s share capital is owned by the Czech state. The remaining part is owned by EGAP.

Standard & Poor’s issued the “AA-” credit rating to the Bank and Moody’s Investor Service issued the “A1” credit rating. The Bank’s

issued bonds are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

2  /  ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been

consistently applied to all the years presented, unless stated otherwise.

(a)  Basis of presentation

The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared as stand-alone financial statements in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“EU IFRS”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical

cost convention. Securities available for sale, all derivative contracts and hedged instruments at fair value are re-measured at fair

value as of the balance sheet date.

Newly Applied Standards and Interpretations the Application of which Had a Significant Impact on the Financial Statements

In the year ended 31 December 2013, the Bank did not apply any new standards and interpretations, the use of which would have 

a significant impact on the financial statements. 

Newly Applied Standards and Interpretations the Application of which Had No Significant Impact on the Financial Statements

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the following standards and interpretations took effect and their application had no

significant impact on the financial statements:

n IFRIC 20 - Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (interpretation effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2013); 

n Amendments to IAS 12 – Income Taxes – Deferred Tax - Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective for annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2013);

n Amendments to IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed

Dates for First-time Adopters (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
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n Amendments to IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Government Loans (effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013), amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 – Transition Guidance (effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);

n Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits – Improvements to the Accounting for Post-employment Benefits (effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013); and

n Amendments to various standards and interpretations “Improvements to IFRSs (2009-2011)” resulting from the annual improvement

project of IFRS (IFRS 1,  IAS 1, IAS 16, IAS 32, IAS 34) published on 17 May 2012 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2013).

The adoption of these amendments resulted in no changes in the Bank’s accounting policies. 

n IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);

The standard defines more detailed information that the entities have to disclose in the notes to the financial statements. 

n Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013).

These amendments specify the information that entities have to disclose on financial assets and liabilities offset in line with IAS

32. In addition, they define the obligations of disclosing netting arrangements and similar arrangements where no offset is made

under IAS 32. Based on the amendment, the Bank discloses the impacts of the netting agreements and contracts on cash

collateral where no offset is made under IAS 32 in the notes to the financial statements. The information is disclosed in Note (g).

n Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

These amendments were issued in June 2011 and are binding from the reporting periods starting on 1 July 2012. In accordance

with the amendments, entities have to report separately (in a separate subtotal) the items of other comprehensive income that

can be reclassified in income or expenses in the future and those that cannot be reclassified. If these items are reported before

tax, the tax relating to these two categories also has to be reported separately. The Bank adjusted the statement of

comprehensive income as required by the amendments to IAS 1. 

Standards and Interpretations in Issue but Not Yet Effective

As of the approval date of these financial statements, the following standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the EU

were issued but not yet effective: 

n IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014);

n IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014);

n IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014);

n IAS 27 (revised in 2011) – Separate Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014);

n IAS 28 (revised in 2011) - Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014);

n Amendments to IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and IAS 27 – Separate

Financial Statements – Investment Entities  (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014); 

n Amendments to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments – Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective for

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014);

n Amendments to IAS 36 “Impairment of assets” – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014); and

n Amendments to IAS 39 – “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”– Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of

Hedge Accounting  (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014).

The Bank decided not to apply these standards, amendments and interpretations before their effective dates. The Bank anticipates

that the application of these standards, amendments and interpretations in the period of their first adoption will have no significant

impact on the financial statements. 

As of the approval date of these financial statements, the following standards, amendments and interpretations were issued by the

IASB but not yet adopted by the EU: 

n IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, published on 12 November 2009;

n Amendments to IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - Presentation – Mandatory Effective Date of IFRS 9

and Transition Disclosures, published on 28 October 2010;

n Amendments to IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments - Disclosures and IAS 39 – Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement – Hedge Accounting, published on 19 November 2013,

n Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits – Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions, published on 21 November 2013;

n Amendments to various standards and interpretations “Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 (IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 8, IFRS 13, IAS 16, IAS 38,

IAS 24), published on 12 December 2013,
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n Amendments to various standards and interpretations “Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 (IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 13, IAS 40), published on

12 December 2013; and

n IFRIC 21 - Levies published on 20 May 2013.

Given that the European Union deferred the adoption of IFRS 9 to the period when the standard is completed and able to entirely

replace IAS 39, the Bank has not yet assessed the potential impact of its adoption. The Bank anticipates that the adoption of other

standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations in the period of their first-time adoption will have no significant impact

on the financial statements of the Bank prepared as of 31 December 2014, including comparative information. 

(b)  Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in accordance with the internal reports regularly prepared and presented to the Board of Directors

of the Bank which represents a group of managers authorized to make decisions on funds to be allocated to individual segments and

assess their performance.

The Bank records two operating segments, which are derived from the special purpose for which it was established, i.e. the operation of

officially supported financing in accordance with Section 6 (1)  of Act No. 58/1995 Coll., through independent accounting sets (circles):

n Separate set (circle) 001 – set of financing without relation to the state budget, operating activities and other relating activities in

accordance with the banking licence; and

n Separate set (circle) 002 – set officially supported financing eligible for subsidy.

(c)  Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements of the Bank are presented in Czech crowns which is also the Bank’s functional currency (i.e. the currency of

the primary economic environment where the Bank operates).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and

liabilities in foreign currencies are reported in the income statement as ‘Net profit from financial operations including state subsidy’. 

The foreign exchange rates of Czech crowns to principal foreign currencies were as follows:

USD EUR

31 December 2013 19,894 27,425 

31 December 2012 19,055 25,140 

(d)  Derivative financial instruments

In the normal course of business the Bank agrees contracts for derivative financial instruments, including cross-currency interest rate

swaps, interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements (“FRA”), currency swaps and currency forwards. The derivative financial instruments

are concluded with counterparties from OECD countries with investment ratings granted by reputable rating agencies or credible

domestic counterparties, the rating of which is regularly assessed.

The Bank uses these financial instruments to minimize the impact of interest rate and currency risks so as not to exceed the acceptable

level of market risk.

Financial derivatives are initially recognized at fair value in the balance sheet on the date on which a derivative contract is entered

into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities

when the fair value is negative.

The Bank does not trade derivatives with a view to generating profit; however, in respect of certain contracts contracted as hedges

the Bank does not apply the hedge accounting rules and therefore  the gains or losses from these derivatives are reported in the

income statement as the ‘Net profit from financial operations including state subsidy’.
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The Bank does not trade in derivatives for profit, but for some contracts entered into for hedging purposes it does not apply hedge

accounting rules and therefore the outcome of these derivatives is recognized in the income statement line "Net profit on financial

operations including state subsidies.

Derivatives accounted under hedge accounting are those derivatives which are also in accordance with the rules of the use of hedge

accounting, the hedging terms are documented at the initial phase of the hedging relationship and the hedging is effective. Changes

in the fair value of derivatives that have been designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement,

together with the relating changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk. The

effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognized in

equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the income statement under ‘Net profit from

financial operations including state subsidy’.

(e)  Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit or

loss, are recognized within ‘Interest income’ and ‘Interest expense’ in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and allocating

the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated

future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the

net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. In determining the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows

considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all

fees and payments paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction

costs, commitment commissions and all other premiums or discounts. If the financial asset is reduced due to impairment, interest

income is recognized using the interest rate that was used to discount cash flows in order to determine impairment.

(f)  Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions, which are not part of the effective interest rate, are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the service

has been provided. Commitment commissions for loans that are not likely to be drawn are recognized as revenue on the date of the

maturity of the liability. Advisory and service fees are recognized based on the appropriate service contracts, usually on an accrual

basis.

(g)  Financial assets

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: Financial assets held for trading, Loans and other receivables,

Available-for-sale assets and Held-to-maturity financial investments. Financial assets are classified upon initial recognition.

Financial assets held for trading

Any changes in fair value of assets classified in this category are reported under ‘Net profit from financial operations including state

subsidy’.  

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those assets intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response

to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates or exchange rates.

Loans and other receivables

Loans provided by the Bank through the direct assignment of funds to a client are considered granted loans and measured at

amortized cost. The amortized cost is the cost net of principal payments, increased by the accrued interest and increased/decreased

by amortisation of discount/premium. The Bank uses the effective interest rate method to calculate the amortized cost. Premiums,

discounts, fees and related transaction costs are integral parts of the effective interest rate. All loans and borrowings are accounted

for when funds are provided to clients (or banks). 
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Held-to-maturity financial investments

Held-to-maturity financial investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or anticipated payments and fixed maturities that

the Bank’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the Bank sold other than an insignificant amount

of the held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be reclassified as available-for-sale.

Initial recognition of financial assets or liabilities

All purchases and sales of financial assets or liabilities, except for derivatives, are recognized at the settlement date. Upon initial

recognition, the financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value are adjusted in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not

at fair value through profit or loss, for transaction costs. Upon acquisition of the financial asset or liability, the Bank does not record the

difference between the recognized fair value of financial assets and liabilities and the measurement value as of the specific date using

the measurement technique.

Valuation of financial assets and financial liabilities as of the balance sheet date

Financial investments held to maturity and Loans and other receivables and financial liabilities, other than liabilities at fair value

through profit are reported at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial assets available for sale, financial assets held for trading and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

subsequently measured at fair value. Profits and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial assets available for sale are

reported directly in equity until the financial asset is derecognized or impaired. The interest calculated using the effective interest rate

method and foreign exchange rate gains or losses from debt securities are reported in the income statement. 

In determining the fair value of quoted investments on level 1, the Bank uses current quoted offer prices If the market is not active for

a specific financial asset, the Bank determines the fair value using valuation techniques (level 2). The Bank uses quoted offer and

demand market rates as input values of the valuation technique used to determine fair values of financial assets or liabilities. 

As of the balance sheet date, management of the Bank assessed the used valuation methods to ensure that they sufficiently reflect

the current market conditions including the relative liquidity of the market and loan range.

De-recognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognized immediately when rights for collection of cash flows cease to exist or when the Bank transfers all

risks and benefits arising from their ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized as soon as they cease to exist – i.e. when they are

cancelled, settled or cease to be effective.

(h)  Impairment of assets

Assets carried at amortized cost

On a quarterly basis, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group   of financial assets is

impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective

evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and

that loss event had an impact on the estimated future payments arising from the financial asset or group of financial assets. 

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for individual financial assets. If the Bank determines that no

objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets

with similar credit risk characteristics, in case it is possible to create such a group, and collectively assesses them for impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity financial investments has been

incurred, the amount of the loss arising from the impairment of assets carried at amortized cost is measured as the difference between

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been

incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the impairment loss is

recognized in the income statement.
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The loans are written off following the application of all legal remedies available to collect receivables, implementation of all necessary

procedures and after determining the amount of an impairment loss. 

Financial assets available for sale

If there is objective evidence of impairment for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference

between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the

income statement – is removed from equity and recognized in the income statement. 

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be

objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the income statement, the impairment loss is

reversed through the income statement.

Renegotiated loans

Renegotiated loans are financial assets the repayment conditions of which were changed. Enforced renegotiation of the receivable

occurs if the debtor is granted relief because the Bank estimates that the loss would probably happen if the relief were not granted.

The Bank provides the relief that would not be otherwise granted, for economic or legal reasons related to the financial situation of

the debtor. This particularly concerns the revision of the repayment plan, decreasing the interest rate, remission of the default interest,

deferring repayments of the principal or payments of interest. In the case of enforced renegotiation, the receivable from the debtor

is classified into the category of default loans and is monitored as risky in a special regime for a specified period.

(i)  Sale and repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold on the basis of repurchase agreements (“repo”) are disclosed separately as pledged assets. The settlement

received for sale is treated as a received loan.

Financial assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements (“reverse repos”) are treated as loans and advances to other banks

or customers as appropriate. 

The difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of repo agreements using the

effective interest rate method.

Securities borrowed are not recognized in the financial statements, unless they are sold to third parties, in which case the purchase

and sale are recorded together with the corresponding gain or loss included in trading income. The obligation to return these securities

is recorded at fair value as a trading liability.

(j)  Tangible and intangible assets

All tangible and intangible assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation, respectively. Historical

cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Acquired software licences are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

Depreciation of tangible and intangible fixed assets is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Years

Motor vehicles 5

Furniture and fittings 2 - 10

Office equipment 2 - 3

Other office equipment 2 - 10

Software 3 - 5

Improvements are included in the asset’s carrying amount, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the

item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Repair and maintenance costs are charged to the income

statement when incurred.
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Tangible fixed assets under construction are not depreciated until relevant assets are completed and put into use. Gains and losses

on disposals are derived from their carrying amounts and proceeds from the sale and are included in the ‘Other operating earnings’

or ‘Other operating expenses’.

The net book value of assets and useful lives is monitored, and adjusted if appropriate at each balance sheet date.

If the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the asset is provided for. The estimated recoverable amount

is the higher of the asset’s fair value including costs to sell and value in use.

(k)  Leases

All leases entered into by the Bank are operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to expenses on 

a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(l)  Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of cash flow statement reporting, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ maturity

and include current accounts and deposits.

(m) Employee benefits

The Bank governs the provision of employee benefits through internal guidelines (e.g. catering, additional pension insurance, interest-free

loan for housing purposes or jubilee bonus). 

The Bank provides additional pension insurance to its employees based on a defined contribution scheme which is structured

according to the length of the employee's service. Contributions are charged to the income statement when paid.

The Bank creates provisions for other long-term employment benefits, such as life jubilees and retirement bonuses. This provision is

created by a simple total of liabilities under these benefits at the balance sheet date. The plan of other long-term employment benefits

does not use any proceeds from the assets. The present value of the provision is calculated on the basis of an incremental approach

which takes into account employee fluctuation assumptions. 

(n)  Taxation and deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and

liabilities and their carrying amounts. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted at the balance sheet

date and relate to the period in which the realisation of the deferred tax asset or settlement of the deferred tax liability are expected. 

Principal temporary differences arise from cash flow hedges, allowances, partly due to the possible use of insurance proceeds received

in the write-off of receivables and secondly due to the annual permitted creation of up to 2% of loans, and the different tax treatments

of fee income. Deferred tax related to the revaluation of items which are charged directly to equity is also charged directly to equity

and subsequently recognized in the income statement together with the deferred gain or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognized where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilized.

Income tax payable is recognized according to the applicable tax law in the Czech Republic, as an expense in the period in which

taxable profits are generated.

(o)  Financial liabilities at amortized cost – borrowings

The category of financial liabilities at amortized cost includes loans from banks, clients, debt securities in issue and other financial

liabilities. Borrowings are initially recognized at the fair value of consideration received net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings

are subsequently stated at amortized cost; any differences between the anticipated value of future financial flows and fair value

upon acquisition are reported using the effective interest rate method over the borrowing period.
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(p)  Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity in the amount stated in the Register of Companies. Incremental costs directly attributable to

the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction of retained earnings, net of tax. 

(q)  State subsidy

In accordance with Act No. 58/1995 Coll., the Bank receives subsidies from the state budget to cover losses resulting from financing

operations.

The amount of the subsidy is calculated as the sum of:

n The recorded interest income from operating long-term supported financing (reduced by a fixed interest mark-up);

n Plus interest income from the current investment of available financial resources intended for supported financing;

n Minus actual interest expense from received financial resources;

n Minus relating fees paid by the Bank to acquire these resources;

n Minus allowances and provisions; and 

n Minus the difference between income from financial derivative operations and costs related to these operations, foreign exchange

rate differences and other costs that were recorded by the Bank to acquire the financial resources.

The income from the state subsidy is recognized in the income statement in the period in which the loss occurs. The title to the state

subsidy is recognized in other receivables when the subsidy is virtually certain. 

(r)  Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is likely that an

outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated.

(s)  Guarantees and credit commitments

The Bank also acts as an issuer of guarantees. Bank guarantee contracts are contractual relationships determining that the issuer will

provide a payment to the beneficiary, subject to events listed in the letter of guarantee. Such guarantees are granted by the Bank

based on the requirement of the exporter. Bank guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value on the

date the guarantee was given. Subsequently, the Bank’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the total fee, less straight-line

amortisation in the income statement over the life of the guarantee and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any

financial obligation arising from the guarantee at the balance sheet date, if the expenditure is higher.

These estimates are determined based on experience from similar transactions and history of past losses. Any increase in the liability

relating to guarantees is recognized in the income statement. The Bank enters into contingent financial relationships by granting credit

commitments. Credit commitments are included in the accounting records at the moment when all conditions precedent set in the

credit contract have been met. Pursuant to the credit contract, the Bank is bound to provide a loan or drawing of the loan for the

benefit of the debtor when conditions precedent have been met. The conditions precedent usually include the effective insurance

policy concluded with EGAP. Before the conditions precedent have been met, signed credit contracts are recorded only in the

information system of the Bank.

(t)  Collateral and guarantees received

The Bank also receives guarantees issued by other banks and other collateral from other subjects as a means of security. An important

component of contingent assets is the insurance of export credit risks arranged by the Bank or in favour of the Bank. The collateral is

not recognized as assets; however, it is positively reflected in the measurement of loans.
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3  /  RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)  Strategy in using financial instruments

The Bank funds export loans through the use of bond issues and long-term borrowings; short-term  borrowings from the inter-bank

market and client deposits are used as additional sources of funding. Bank stores available funds in bonds with low credit risk, mainly

in state bonds or bank deposits. The Bank uses financial instruments to cover interest rate and foreign exchange differences.

The Bank deposits free funds in other banks at fixed rates and for various periods, and uses customers’ deposits as loan collateral and

as funds for export loans. The Bank seeks lending opportunities to commercial borrowers with an acceptable credibility. Such exposures

involve not just loans and advances; the Bank also enters into guarantees and other commitments.

The Bank’s strategy does not involve generating profit through trading with financial instruments to take advantage of movements in

interest and exchange rates. For this reason, the Bank does not create any trading portfolio.

The Board places risk limits on the level of exposure that can be taken in relation to all daily market positions. With the exception of

specific hedging arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate exposures are normally offset by entering into counterbalancing

positions, thereby controlling the variability in the net cash amounts required to liquidate market positions. The Bank uses selected

derivatives for the fair value hedging to minimize the impact of changes in fair value on the income statement.

The Bank hedges part of its existing interest rate risk resulting from any potential decrease in the fair value of assets or increase in fair

value of liabilities denominated both in local and foreign currencies using interest rate swaps, currency derivatives and cross-currency

interest rate swaps.

In 2013 and in 2012 the Bank did not make any reclassification of securities.

(b)  Credit risk

The Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to repay amounts in full when due. The credit

exposure results from individual banking products provided under supported export financing and from the Bank’s operations on

money markets and capital markets.

The Bank has established a system of approval authorities, depending on the total limit for the client and risk categorisation.

Credit risk management and its control are organisationally incorporated into the Risk Management section for which one Board

member is responsible.

Credit risk measurement

The Bank assesses the probability of default by individual counterparties on an individual basis  using rating models. The Bank has

established a rating model for the assessment of the risks of corporate clients, banks and risk model for assessing the quality of projects.

The Bank performs validation of rating in accordance with commonly used methods. The rating tools are reviewed regularly and

updated as necessary. These documents are submitted to the Credit Committee.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk  accepted in relation to one borrower,

or group of borrowers, to geographical segments, concentration of industry or any other significant concentration with a common risk

factor.

Exposure to a borrower or to an economically related group of borrowers is restricted by exposure limits set by the regulator (the CNB’s

regulation). For prudency reasons and in order to respect the regulatory limits, the Bank reduces exposure to one borrower or to one

economically related group of borrowers by signal exposure limits, which are expressed as a defined percentage from exposure limits

set by the CNB. The exposure to banks and brokers is further restricted by trading sub-limits for balance sheet and off-balance sheet

items and sub-limits for the settlement risk. The significant concentration of credit risk to one borrower or group of borrowers, where the

probability of the failure is influenced by the common risk factor (country of registered office, country of export or industry), is restricted

by concentration limits. Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily. All limits are regularly reviewed at least once a year.
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Maximum credit risk exposure before collateral instruments are applied

(CZK’m) 2013

Gross exposure total                  Used to ensure that exposures

Balance Off-balance Exposure Statement Off-Balance Ensuring Credit
sheet position sheet total of financial Sheet total exposure

and repo positions position

Exposures to central banks and governments 14 720 3 024 17 744 7 278 2 717 9 995 7 749

Exposures to institutions 1 357 190 1 547 243 180 423 1 124

Corporate exposure 59 523 15 299 74 822 56 040 14 352 70 392 4 430

Past due exposure 10 734 – 10 734 9 946 – 9 946 788

Short-term exposure to institutions, corporates 7 066 686 7 752 564 – 564 7 188

Other exposure 2 335 – 2 335 – – – 2 335

Total exposure 95 735 19 199 114 934 74 071 17 249 91 320 23 614

(CZK’m) 2012

Gross exposure total                  Used to ensure that exposures

Balance Off-balance Exposure Statement Off-Balance Ensuring Credit
sheet position sheet total of financial Sheet total exposure

and repo positions position

Exposures to central banks and governments 13 254 2 539 15 793 4 503 2 238 6 741 9 052

Exposures to institutions 2 356 78 2 434 639 75 714 1 720

Corporate exposure 55 557 20 223 75 780 52 973 18 495 71 468 4 312 

Past due exposure 7 183 – 7 183 6 920 – 6 920 263

Short-term exposure to institutions, corporates 5 272 – 5 272 – – – 5 272

Other exposure 1 044 – 1 044 – – – 1 044 

Total exposure 84 666 22 840 107 506 65 035 20 808 85 843 21 663 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is disclosed in accordance with the rules of exposure laid down by Decree No. 123/2007 Coll. the

prudential rules for banks, savings and loan associations and brokerage firms.

Taking the level of credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Bank’s credit risk of the Bank is reduced by the insurance of export credit risks by EGAP in favour of the Bank in terms of Act No.

58/1995 Coll. In order to collateralise the credit risk, the Bank also uses other types of collateral according to the type of financing. With

regard to corporate financing, collateral principally includes a pledge over the export item, it is also common to pledge all receivables

of the importer (debtor) from the exporter in favour of the Bank. Transactions on the basis of project financing are primarily

collateralised by a pledge over 100% shares of the debtor, pledge over movable and immovable assets or pledged income and

assignment of insurance proceeds. The Bank also uses financial collateral deposited in the Bank or other banks to hedge against

credit risk and bank guarantees issued by entities incorporated in OECD countries or by credible domestic banks. The Bank also

accepts other types of collateral.

Financial derivatives 

The credit risk resulting from open derivative positions is managed within the overall trading limits for individual borrowers, by both

amount and term. Collateral or other security is not usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these instruments. Under exceptional

circumstances the financial collateral is received as a deposit bearing a base rate for the respective currency.

The credit risk from derivative positions is also managed mainly by choosing credible counterparties and regularly monitoring their

financial situation. The derivatives are concluded with counterparties based in OECD countries (or with domestic credible

counterparties) with long-term ratings of A and better from international rating agencies.
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Other financial assets 

For the purposes of credit risk management of other financial assets, the same approach is applied to credit risk management of loans.

Loans

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Loans and other receivables Loans and other receivables

Banks Customers Undifferentiated Total Banks Customers Undifferentiated Total

Neither past due nor impaired 858 67 499  – 68 357 1 198 59 347 – 60 545

Past due but not impaired – 11 – 11 – 2 711 – 2 711

Impaired 134 16 137 – 16 271 113 6 633 – 6 746

992 83 647 – 84 639 1 311 68 691 – 70 002

Less: allowance for impairment (124) (5 161) – (5 285) (113) (1 303) – (1 416)

Total loans 868 78 486 – 79 354 1 198 67 388 – 68 586

Other receivables neither past due
nor impaired 6 490 – 2 6 492 4 846 - 43 4 889 

Total loans and others receivables 7 358 78 486 2 85 846 6 044 67 388 43 73 475

Total undamaged to maturity 7 348 67 499 2 74 849 6 044 59 347 43 65 434 

Total overdue undamaged – 11 – 11 – 2 711 – 2 711 

Total net impaired 10 10 976 – 10 986 – 5 330 – 5 330

7 358 78 486 2 85 846 6 044 67 388 43 73 475

In some cases of project financing not all the realized risks were fully recognized by the insurance company, which resulted in an increase in the "Total

net impaired."

Loans neither past due nor impaired

In order to recognize the credit risk of loans and receivables neither past due nor impaired, the internal rating system of the Bank based on entity

rating is applied.

A rating downgrade may not mean that the loan was impaired. If a loan is collateralized in full using high-quality collateral it may not be impaired at all.

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Loans and other receivables Loans and other receivables

internal rating Banks Customers Undifferentiated Total Banks Customers Undifferentiated Total

Highest credit quality 1 – – – – – – – –

High credit quality 2 – – – – 51 – – 51 

Very good credit quality 3 799 10 371 – 11 170 803 43 – 846 

Good credit quality 4 – 11 484 – 11 484 – 17 576 – 17 576 

Quality requires attention 5 59 2 584 – 2 643 86 4 366 – 4 452 

Vulnerable 6 – 3 958 – 3 958 28 8 795 – 8 823 

Unsatisfactory 7 – 5 351 – 5 351 – – – –

Project Financing 21–24 – 33 751 – 33 751 230 28 567 – 28 797 

Total credits 858 67 499 – 68 357 1 198 59 347 – 60 545 

Highest credit quality 1 1 820 – – 1 820 – – – –

High credit quality 2 2 904 – – 2 904 4 110 – 2 4 112 

Very good credit quality 3 1 766 – – 1 766 736 – 32 768 

Good credit quality 4 – – – – – – 1 1 

Quality requires attention 5 – – – – – – – –

Vulnerable 6 – – – – – – – –

Unsatisfactory 7 – – – – – – – –

Project Financing 21–24 – – – – – – 3 3 

Non-rated – – – 2 2 – – 5 5 

Other receivables total 6 490 – 2 6 492 4 846 – 43 4 889 

Loans total 7 348 67 499 2 74 849 6 044 59 347 43 65 434 
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During 2013, the Bank continued in the increasing trend of financing “green field” projects, where a creditor is a newly established entity, which was

set up as a special purpose vehicle (“SPV”). Due to their non-existent business history, these entities are automatically allocated the 21-24 rating,

according to the quality of the project.

Loans past due but not impaired

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Loans Loans

Banks Customers Total Banks Customers Total

Past due by 30 days – – – – 598 598 

Past due 30 - 90 days – – – – 3 3 

Past due 90 - 180 days – 1 1 – 1 434 1 434 

Past due more than 180 days – 10 10 – 676 676 

Total – 11 11 – 2 711 2 711 

Fair value of collateral – – – – 2 620 2 620 

Impaired loans

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Loans Loans

Banks Customers Total Banks Customers Total

Individually impaired loans 134 16 137 16 271 113 6 633 6 746 

Less: allowance for impairment (124) (5 161) (5 285) (113) (1 303) (1 416)

Total net impaired 10 10 976 10 986 – 5 330 5 330 

Fair value of collateral 11 10 812 10 823 – 5 348 5 348 

Renegotiated loans

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Loans Loans

Banks Customers Total Banks Customers Total

Restructured loans – 12 12 – 4 4 

Unexpended credit commitments to customers – – – – 647 647 

Restructured loans and receivables includes balances whose terms have been renegotiated and that would otherwise be past due or impaired.

The loans reported as of 31 December 2013 as Unimpaired past due and impaired loans are included in the value of CZK 2,965 million, which

were restructured (31 December 2012: CZK 4,461 million).

Credit commitments and similar instruments

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer, as required.

Credit commitments

Commitments to grant a credit represent unused portions of authorized credit lines in the form of loans. With respect to the credit risk on credit

commitments, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less

than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to grant credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards.

Similar instruments

Guarantees and standby letters of credit – which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer

cannot meet its obligations to third parties – carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary letters of credit – which are written undertakings

by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts from the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and

conditions – are collateralized by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.
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Geographic structure of loans

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

(CZK’m) (%) (CZK’m) (%)

Russia 27 740 32,30 27 235 37,07 

Other EU member states 17 922 20,88 16 534 22,51 

Turkey 14 823 17,27 10 580 14,40 

Georgia 5 631 6,56 5 705 7,76 

Azerbaijan 7 782 9,07 4 737 6,45 

Czech Republic 8 037 9,36 4 207 5,72 

Ukraine 2 213 2,58 2 268 3,09 

Montenegro 670 0,78 759 1,03 

Belarus 726 0,85 589 0,80 

Tunis – – 307 0,42 

Cuba – – 230 0,31 

Serbia 263 0,31 193 0,26 

United States of America 10 0,01 44 0,06 

Kosovo 21 0,02 38 0,05 

Mongolia – – 35 0,05 

Uganda 8 0,01 12 0,02 

Iraq – – 2 –

Total 85 846 100,00 73 475 100,00

Industry structure of loans

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

(CZK’m) (%) (CZK’m) (%)

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 231 0,27 228 0,31 

Mineral wealth mining 62 0,07 238 0,32 

Processing industry 19 725 22,98 20 768 28,27 

Production and distribution electricity, gas, heat and air 41 992 48,91 32 482 44,21 

Building industry 4 006 4,67 3 184 4,33 

Wholesale and retail trade; repairs vehicle 561 0,65 694 0,94 

Transport and warehousing 679 0,79 771 1,05 

Accommodation, catering and hospitality – – 307 0,42 

Banking and insurance industry 7 882 9,18 6 487 8,83 

Real estate activities 500 0,58 562 0,76 

Administrative and supporting activity 2 426 2,83 3 017 4,11 

Public administration, defence 7 782 9,07 4 737 6,45 

Total 85 846 100,00 73 475 100,00 

(c)  Market risk

The Bank is exposed to market risks. Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate and currency products, all of which are exposed to 

general and specific market movements. The Bank applies sensitivity analyses to observe the breakdown of interest risk in individual currencies,

in different periods and “Value at Risk” (“VAR”) methodology to estimate the market risk of positions held and the maximum losses expected,

based upon a number of assumptions for various changes in market conditions. The Board sets limits on the value of risk that may be accepted,

from which all market risks limits are derived. Actual utilisation of the limits is monitored on a daily basis by risk management. The Bank calculates

VAR using a historic simulation model which calculates possible maximum loss based on a time series of risk factor vectors. The Bank has not

been exposed to risks stemming from nonlinear instruments. The VAR is computed on the 99% level of confidence for the 10-day holding period.

All VAR values are summarized in the table below.
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VAR summary

(CZK’m) 12 months to 31 December 2013 12 months to 31 December 2012

VAR Hist. Simulation Average High Low Average High Low

nterest rate risk 45,09 93,88 23,74 86,37 139,04 36,21

Foreign exchange risk 0,82 3,10 0,02 0,84 3,56 0,06

Total VAR 45,12 93,71 24,05 86,46 139,10 36,08 

The back-testing of the VAR model is performed regularly. The following table shows the back-testing results as of 31 December 2013 and 2012:

Year Number of Reached reliability Reached reliability Number of cases with Number of cases with
observation for interest risk for currency risk higher loss interest  for risk higher loss for currency risk

(%) (%)

2012 250 99,60 98,80 1 3

2013 251 98,41 99,20 4 2

The Bank conducts quarterly stress testing of the impact of material changes in financial markets on the level of market exposure. Within the

sensitivity analyses, the material fluctuation scenarios and changes in interest curves and monetary exchange rates are tested; for the VAR,

historic scenarios are tested using the data from the financial crisis in autumn 2008 and the debt crisis in the eurozone in the summer of 2011.

Given that the Bank’s portfolio of instruments remeasured at fair value through profit or loss is not significant, the impact on the Bank’s income

statement is not assessed as part of the stress tests.

(d)  Currency risk

The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates in its financial position and cash flows. The

foreign currency exchange rate risk is managed using an analysis of currency sensitivity and VAR, for which a set of limits has been established.

If a foreign currency exchange rate risk is greater than 2% of capital, the size of the open currency position is reflected in the capital adequacy

requirement which is allocated to this risk by the Bank. 

The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to exchange rate risk as of 31 December 2013 and 2012. Included in the table are the Bank’s

assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized by currency. The net foreign currency position also includes exposure to foreign exchange

risk arising from currency derivatives that are used primarily to reduce the balance sheet currency risk of the Bank.
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Concentrations of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items

(CZK’m) CZK USD EUR Other Total

At 31 December 2013

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central bank 39 – – – 39 

Financial instruments held for trading 74 – – – 74 

Financial instruments available-for-sale 3 627 – 1 804 – 5 431 

Loans and receivables 2 100 12 407 71 336 3 85 846 

of which: from banks 367 3 401 3 587 3 7 358  

of which:  from other clients 1 731 9 006 67 748 – 78 485 

of which: undifferentiated 2 – 1 – 3 

Financial instruments held-to-maturity 1 309 – 491 – 1 800 

Hedging derivatives 87 – – – 87 

Equipment 49 – – – 49 

Intangible assets 56 – – – 56 

Other assets, including tax 1 538 9 393 2 1 942 

Total assets 8 879 12 416 74 024 5 95 324 

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities held for trading 523 18 – – 541 

Financial liabilities in amortized costs 16 833 10 181 60 378 1 87 393 

of which: to banks 411 – 983 – 1 394 

of which: to other clients 962 68 1 004 1 2 035 

of which: undifferentiated 58 – – – 58 

of which: issued bonds 15 402 10 113 58 391 – 83 906 

Hedging derivatives 670 120 1 488 – 2 278 

Other liabilities, including tax 562 14 37 – 613 

Total liabilities 18 588 10 333 61 903 1 90 825 

Net on-balance sheet items (9 709) 2 083 12 121 4 4 499 

Currency forward 14 065 (2 258) (12 972) – (1 165)

Net currency position 4 356 (175) (851) 4 3 334 

At 31 December 2012

Total assets 8 499 13 748 61 243 4 83 494 

Total liabilities 17 272 9 760 52 219 1 79 252 

Net on-balance sheet position (8 773) 3 988 9 024 3 4 242 

Currency forward 14 968 (4 178) (10 886) – (96)

Net currency position 6 195 (190) (1 862) 3 4 146 

(e)  Interest rate risk

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk as its interest bearing assets and liabilities have different re-fixing or maturity dates. For floating

rate instruments, the Bank is exposed to basic risks, which arise from the differences in methods of adjusting individual types of interest

rates, primarily LIBOR, EURIBOR and possibly PRIBOR. Interest rate is managed using the interest rate sensitivity analysis and VAR for which

a set of limits is defined to mitigate potential exposure. Interest rate risk management aims at minimising the sensitivity of the Bank to

changes in interest rates.

In accordance with the risk management strategy approved by the Board, the Bank optimizes the structure of its sources of finance

comprising bond issues and syndicated loans so that no significant differences between the duration of its interest sensitive assets

and liabilities arise.

Interest rate derivatives are used for mitigating the difference between the interest rate sensitivity of assets and liabilities. These

transactions are conducted in accordance with the risk management policies approved

by the Board of Directors and the use of hedge accounting rules approved by the ALCO to reduce the interest rate risk of the Bank.
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(f)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from different types of Bank financing and the management of its positions. It includes both the risk of the Bank’s

ability to finance its assets with instruments with appropriate maturity and the Bank’s ability to liquidate/sell its assets at a favourable

price in a favourable time. 

The Bank uses its own methods of measuring and monitoring net cash flows and liquidity position for liquidity risk management. The

differences between the inflow and outflow of funds are measured by gap analysis of the liquidity, which sets liquidity positions for

different time periods. Development of liquidity in the CZK, EUR, and USD currency structures and for the Bank in total is monitored on

several levels of market performance, i.e. on the level of a standard and alternative scenario and 3 stress scenarios, which quantify

the impact on liquidity in a crisis of reputation, market crisis and combined crisis. Stress scenarios are the basis for the regular analysis

of survival. The Bank has a minimum requirement on the volume of liquid reserves, ie reserves of highly liquid assets and backup

funding. The Bank has furthermore established a set of liquidity indicators, through which it manages asset structure, liabilities and 

off-balance items, i.e. particularly required structure of funds in relation to the structure of loans provided, credit commitments and

guarantees issued. Sufficient liquidity is regulated by a system of limits and is managed with the help of on-balance (eg, bonds issued,

loans taken) and off-balance sheet transactions (FX swaps, currency interest rate swaps).On a regular basis, the Bank assesses its plans

for raising funds based on the current development of liquidity risk, financial markets and other factors. 

The Bank has access to diversified sources of finance. These sources comprise issued bonds, bilateral or club loans from domestic as

well as international financial markets and other deposits received from other banks and customers. This diversification gives flexibility

to the Bank and limits its dependence on one source of finance. On a regular basis, the Bank assesses the liquidity risk, predominantly

by monitoring changes in the financing structure. In compliance with its liquidity risk management strategy, the Bank also maintains 

a sufficient liquidity cushion comprised of highly liquid government securities and bonds of financial institutions of the European Union.

Stated values are based on non-discounted cash flows.

Maturity of non-derivative liabilities

(CZK’m) Up to 1 month 1–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years Over 5 years Total

31 December 2013

Financial liabilities at amortized cost due to banks 492 – 80 600 339 1 511

Financial liabilities at amortized cost due to clients 1 135 77 747 68 71 2 098

Debt securities in issue 476 1 547 11 749 48 520 29 192 91 484

Total financial liabilities at amortized cost 2 103 1 624 12 576 49 188 29 602 95 093

Loan commitments 1 139 2 274 10 126 421 – 13 960

31 December 2012

Financial liabilities at amortized cost due to banks 628 – 2 035 566 442 3 671

Financial liabilities at amortized cost due to clients 1 032 303 1 488 1 960 47 4 830

Debt securities in issue 327 1 318 9 645 32 604 32 019 75 913

Total financial liabilities at amortized cost 1 987 1 621 13 168 35 130 32 508 84 414

Loan commitments 2 424 2 809 10 733 2 239 – 18 205

Maturity of derivative financial liabilities

Derivatives to be settled in net value include liabilities of interest rate swaps.

(CZK’m) Up to 1 month 1–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 lyears Over 5 years Total

31 December 2013

Derivatives held for trading (3) – (15) (12) – (30)

Hedging derivatives (41) (166) (484) (1 183) (105) (1 979)

31 December 2012

Derivatives held for trading 1 – (4) (7) – (10)

Hedging derivatives (47) (152) (702) (1 587) (191) (2 679)
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Derivatives to be settled in gross value include currency swaps, currency forwards and cross currency swaps.

(CZK’m) Up to 1 month 1–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 lyears Over 5 years Total

31 December 2013

Foreign exchange derivatives for trading

outflow (405) – – – – (405)

inflow 404 – – – – 404 

Cross currency swaps for trading

outflow – (12) (1 448) (2 089) (4 223) (7 772)

inflow – 8 1 526 1 972 3 786 7 292 

Cross currency swaps to hedge

outflow – (27) (85) (8 648) – (8 760)

inflow – 25 74 7 915 – 8 014 

Total outflow (405) (39) (1 533) (10 737) (4 223) (16 937)

Total inflow 404 33 1 600 9 887 3 786 15 710 

31 December 2012

Foreign exchange derivatives for trading

outflow – – (503) – – (503)

inflow – – 498 – – 498 

Cross currency swaps for trading

outflow (5) (40) (1 989) (3 545) (7 741) (13 320)

inflow 3 45 1 871 3 781 7 599 13 299 

Cross currency swaps to hedge

outflow – – (51) (204) (3 797) (4 052)

inflow – – 57 227 3 898 4 182 

Total outflow (5) (40) (2 543) (3 749) (11 538) (17 875)

Total inflow 3 45 2 426 4 008 11 497 17 979

(g)  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not presented on the Bank’s balance

sheet at their fair value. Fair value incorporates expected future losses while carrying value (amortized cost and related impairment) only includes

incurred losses at the balance sheet date.

(CZK’m) 2013 2012 2013 2012

Carrying value Fair value

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Loans to banks 7 358 6 044 7 414 6 065 

Loans to other entities 78 486 67 388 73 227 65 558 

Financial instruments held-to-maturity 1 800 2 600 1 858 2 692 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities at amortized cost due to banks 1 394 3 467 1 454 3 603 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost due to clients 2 035 4 726 2 020 4 654 

Debt securities in issue 83 906 68 088 87 286 72 310 

Loan commitments given 13 960 18 204 – 32 
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Loans to banks

Due from other banks includes inter-bank deposits and other receivables. The fair value of floating rate deposits and overnight deposits is their

carrying amount. The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows based on the prevailing yield curve

for respective remaining maturity.

Loans to customers and held-to-maturity securities

The estimated fair value of loans and held-to-maturity securities represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows. Expected

cash flows are discounted at prevailing money-market interest rates for debts and securities with similar credit risk and remaining maturity 

considering credit spreads of relevant financial instruments at the year-end, including existing credits security.

Due to banks and due to clients

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.

The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits and other borrowings without a quoted market price is based on discounted cash flows

using the prevailing yield curve for the respective remaining maturity.

Debt securities in issue

For debt securities in issue, a discounted cash flow model is used based on a current yield curve for the respective remaining maturity.

Fair value recognized in the statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of the financial instruments which are measured at fair value after initial recognition and which are 

divided into levels 1 and 2 depending on the extent to which fair value can be identified or verified:

n Fair value measurements at level 1 are valuations that are based on (unadjusted) quoted prices for the same assets or liabilities in active

markets; and

n Fair value measurements at level 2 are valuations that are based on inputs other than quoted prices used at level 1; this information can be

obtained for an asset or liability directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. data derived from the prices).

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 1 Level 2

Financial instruments held for trading – 74 – 162

Financial instruments available-for-sale 5 380 51 5 648 52

Hedging derivatives with positive fair value – 87 – 192

Total 5 380 212 5 648 406

Financial liabilities held for trading – 541 – 421

Hedging derivatives with negative fair value – 2 278 – 2 411

Total – 2 819 – 2 832

The Bank has no assets or liabilities carried at fair value at level 3, ie measurements based on valuation techniques that use information on

assets or liabilities and are not derived from observable market data (non-verifiable inputs).

Offsetting of financial instruments

The Bank is entitled to present a statement of financial position certain financial instruments, in net terms according to the criteria set out in 

paragraph 2 a).

The following table provides information on the impact of compensation on the balance sheet and the financial impact of the netting for 

vehicles subject to netting agreements or similar agreements.
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(CZK’m) 2013

Gross Gross Net financial Impact Cash Net  
amounts amounts assets of Master collateral amount

aktiv accounted   reported in  Netting 
of financial for the balance Agreements

assets sheet

Positive market values from derivatives (enforceable) 161 – 161 (62) – 99

Positive market values from derivatives (non-enforceable) – – – – – –

Total assets 161 – 161 (62) – 99

Negative market values from derivatives (enforceable) 2 819 – 2 819 (62) (604) 2 153

Negative market values from derivatives (non-enforceable) – – – – – –

Total liabilities 2 819 – 2 819 (62) (604) 2 153

(CZK’m) 2012

Gross Gross Net financial Impact Cash Net  
amounts amounts assets of Master collateral amount

aktiv accounted   reported in  Netting 
of financial for the balance Agreements

assets sheet

Positive market values from derivatives (enforceable) 354 – 354 (196) – 158

Positive market values from derivatives (non-enforceable) – – – – – –

Total assets 354 – 354 (196) – 158

Negative market values from derivatives (enforceable) 2 832 – 2 832 (196) (288) 2 348

Negative market values from derivatives (non-enforceable) – – – – – –

Total liabilities 2 832 – 2 832 (196) (288) 2 348

(h)  Capital management

The aim of the Bank with respect to capital management is to comply with the regulatory requirements in the area of capital adequacy

and to maintain strong capital in order to support the development of officially supported financing provided pursuant to Act 

No. 58/1995 Coll.

The Bank uses the standard approach based on an external rating to calculate the capital requirement for the credit risk of the

investment portfolio, i.e. calculate risk-weighted exposures. The risk weighting is based on the exposures category and credit quality.

Credit quality is determined based on the external rating, which was set by the rating agency registered in the list of agencies for

credit assessment maintained for this purposes by the CNB or by the export credit agency. The CNB’s regulations define exposure

categories and risk weighting used in the standard approach.

When calculating risk weighted exposures, the Bank considers methods of decreasing credit risk such as pledging property as collateral

(financial collateral) or individual securing of exposures (insurance and other guarantees).

As of 1 January 2008, the Bank created a system of internally set capital (SVSK) in order to fulfil its legal obligations in the area of

planning and continuously maintaining internally set capital in the amount, structure and distribution, so that the risks, which could

threaten the Bank, are sufficiently covered.

SVSK is established to reflect the Bank’s nature of a specialized bank institution directly and indirectly owned by the state intended to

provide officially supported financing and related services pursuant to Act 58/1995 Coll. and with respect to the scope and complexity

of activities resulting from operating officially supported financing and related services and corresponding risks.

The Board of Directors approved the SVSK concept in the form of a capital management strategy which defines the key goals,

principles, parameters and limits of SVSK, including the methods used to evaluate and measure each risk undertaken by the Bank.

Quantified risks within SVSK are assessed in the form of internally set capital needs. Other risks within SVSK are covered by qualitative

measures in risk management and organisation of processes and controls (code of ethics, communication policy, etc.).

In 2013 and 2012 the Bank met all regulatory requirements for capital adequacy. 
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Regulatory capital

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Paid-up share capital registered in the commercial register 4 000 4 000 

Mandatory reserve funds 730 726 

Other funds from profit 620 541 

Loss for the period (202) –

Deductible items from the original equity - intangible assets (56) (82)

Initial capital (Tier 1) 5 092 5 185 

Regulatory capital 5 092 5 185 

4  /  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgements are continually

evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the current circumstances.

(a)  Impairment losses on loans

Besides individual loans, the Bank also reviews its loan portfolios at least on a quarterly basis to assess impairment. In determining whether an

impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Bank makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating

that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from loans and estimates the expected cash flows and their timing for

impaired loans. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers

of the Bank, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on loans and currently the Bank also takes account of the opinion

of EGAP to make payments, or denial of insurance claims. The Bank uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk

characteristics and objective evidence of impairment when scheduling its future cash flows.

(b)  Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

When available-for-sale assets are impaired, the accumulated profit or loss recognized in equity is reported through profit or loss.

(c)  State subsidy

When recognizing a state subsidy taking into account the principles of Act No. 58/1995 Coll., which was designed to support Czech export in 

general rather than to promote the Bank as an entity owned by the state, the Bank assessed the subsidy in accordance with IAS 20 as a subsidy

reported in income compensating some expenses rather than a transaction with the owner with an impact on equity. 

(d)  Income taxes

The Bank is subject to Czech income tax in compliance with effective regulations. The Bank recognizes liabilities in the amount of anticipated

tax assessments based on estimates. Where the final tax liability differs from the anticipated amounts the resulting differences have an impact

on the tax expense and the deferred tax liability in the period in which the assessment is made.

5  /  OPERATING SEGMENTS

Separate set (circle) 001 includes operating activities, financing without the right to a grant and other related activities in accordance with banking

licences and the resulting income and expenses. All these activities are carried out under market conditions, without any direct links to the state

budget.

Separate set (circle) 002 includes all activities relating to supported financing which are eligible to a subsidy from the state budget, and the resulting

income and expenses.

VZ_EN_13  26.5.14  10:47  Stránka 72



73

ČESKÁ EXPORTNÍ BANKA, A.S. / FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

circle 001 circle 002 Total circle 001 circle 002 Total

Interest and similar income 911 2 564 3 475 988 2 550 3 538 

Interest expense and similar charges (1) (2 477) (2 478) (6) (2 772) (2 778)

Impairment losses on loans (220) (2 356) (2 576) (356) (287) (643)

Loss / profit before income tax 307 – 307 263 – 263 

Income tax expense (509) – (509) (180) – (180)

Profit for the year (202) – (202) 83 – 83

Loans and receivables 1 870 83 976 85 846 2 788 70 687 73 475

Total assets 6 830 88 494 95 324 7 997 75 497 83 494 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

and guaranteed liabilities 1 150 86 243 87 393 1 157 75 179 76 336 

Total liabilities and equity 6 980 88 344 95 324 6 680 76 814 83 494

Providing supported financing is broken down into funding linked to the state budget and without ties to the state budget. The Bank predomi-

nantly assesses performance of its operating segments according to interest income, interest expense, impairment losses on loans and the

amount of granted/received loans.

Revenue from ordinary activities of the Bank in the geographic breakdown

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Interest Fee and Total Interest Fee and Total
and similar commisions and similar commisions 

income income income income

Britain 24 – 24 17 – 17 

Bulgaria 72 – 72 2 – 2

Czech Republic 338 41 379 224 36 260

Denmark 34 – 34 – – –

France 60 – 60 5 – 5 

Cyprus 74 – 74 100 – 100 

Luxembourg 6 – 6 5 – 5 

Netherlands – – – 1 – 1

Austria 1 – 1 2 – 2

Slovak Republic 322 – 322 440 – 440

The European Union's total 931 41 972 796 36 832 

Azerbaijan 188 11 199 107 5 112 

Belarus 30 2 32 32 1 33

Montenegro 10 – 10 17 – 17 

Georgia 270 – 270 292 – 292 

Yemen – 1 1 – 1 1

Kosovo 1 – 1 2 – 2

Cuba 2 – 2 7 – 7

Mongolia 9 – 9 9 – 9 

Norway – – – 5 – 5

Russia 1 390 11 1 401 1 534 5 1 539

United States of America 2 – 2 10 – 10

Serbia 12 – 12 5 – 5

Tunisia – – – 14 – 14 

Turkey 488 – 488 585 – 585 

Uganda 1 – 1 1 – 1 

Ukraine 141 – 141 122 – 122 

Uzbekistan – – – – 1 1 

Total interest income and fees 3 475 66 3 541 3 538 49 3 587 
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6  /  NET INTEREST INCOME

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Interest income from loans to banks 23 10 

Interest income from loans to clients 2 996 3 292 

Interest income from interbank deposits 4 10 

Interest income from non-tradeable securities – 2 

Interest income from loans and receivables 3 023 3 314 

Interest income from CNB loans - repos – 9  

Interest income from available-for-sale securities 76 91 

Interest income from financial investments held-to-maturity - securities 50 53 

Interest on other assets - collateral 1 1 

Gains on hedging interest derivative instruments 325 70 

Other interest earnings 452 224 

Interest and similar income 3 475 3 538

Interest expense from received bank credits (99) (109)

Interest expense from government 76 (78)

Interest expense from term deposits (9) (31)

Interest expense from checking accounts – (2)

Interest expense from interbanking operations (1) (8)

Interest expense from repos with banks – (5)

Interest expense from issued bonds (1 483) (1 554)

Interest expense from financial liabilities in amortized costs (1 516) (1 787)

Gains (loss) on hedging interest derivative instruments (962) (991) 

Interest expense and similar charges (2 478) (2 778)

Net interest income 997 760 

Interest income for 2013 includes outstanding accrued interest on impaired loans in the amount of CZK 586 million (2012: CZK 248 million) as of

31 December 2013.

7  /  FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Fees and commisions from clearing and settlement 1 –

Fees and commisions from credit activities 13 8 

Fees and commisions from payments 2 4 

Fees from mandatory and other contracts – 1 

Fees and commisions from guarantees 50 36 

Fee and commisions income 66 49

Fees and commisions from clearing and settlement (1) (1)

Fees for received loans from banks (3) (10)

Fee for security operations (1) (1)

Fees and commisions for rating (6) (6)

Fee and commisions expense (11) (18)

Net fee and commission income 55 31
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8  /  NET PROFIT FROM FINANCIAL OPERATIONS

Amounts due from the state budget and income from financial operations

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

STATE SUBSIDY TO STATE EXPORT PROMOTION under international rules (OECD Consensus)

At 1 January 142 58

PReceipt of state subsidy (1 170) (552)

Increase in receivables from state budget 2 187 636

At 31 December  1 159 142

Increased provisioning, which has not been adequately compensated for by insurance benefits, has resulted in increased demand for the public

subsidy.

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Subsidy income 2 187 636 

Gains from operations with securities 26 5 

Realized gains from financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value through profit 2 213 641 

Costs of derivative transactions with interest rate instruments (13) (17)

Income from derivative transactions with interest rate instruments 3 3 

Costs of derivative transactions with currency instruments (674) (55)

Income from derivative transactions with currency instruments 159 415 

Net trading income/(expense) (525) 346 

The loss of hedge accounting (649) –

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 1 248 (447)

Net profit from financial operations, including state subsidy 2 287 540 
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9  /  OPERATING COSTS

(CZK'm) 2013 2012

Number of employees 177 181 

Average recorded number of employees 177 174 

of which: Board and Supervisory Board 8 7

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

Salaries and emoluments (169) (176)

Social and health security costs (52) (49)

Other staff costs (10) (9)

Staff costs (231) (234)

Advertising (6) (12)

Advice (18) (11)

Information technology (22) (13)

Outsourcing (3) (3)

Rental (24) (21)

Fare (10) (10)

Other services immaterial (17) (15)

Other administrative expenses (23) (21)

Total administrative expenses (354) (340)

Software amortisation 18 (20) (11)

Depreciation of long term tangible assets (22) (23)

Depreciation and amortization (42) (34)

Contribution of the Deposit Insurance Fund (2) (2)

Legal costs and control activities (1) (1)

Advice – –

Cost of recovery (60) (30)

Contractual fines and penalties – –

Value added tax – –

Other (1) (1)

Other operating expenses (64) (34)

Dissolution (creation) of reserves 22 (7) (20)

Total operating costs (467) (428)

In 2013, the salaries and bonuses paid to the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board amounted to CZK 24 million (2012:

CZK 30 million). The provision for bonuses for key management, payment of which is deferred and depends on the financial results in future years

was increased by CZK 8 million to CZK 26 million. The provision for long-term benefits were reduced by CZK 1 million.

10  /  IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON LOANS

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Creation of allowances for receivables to banks (1) (112)

Creation of allowances for receivables to clients (3 671) (756) 

Utilisation and release of allowances on loans to customers 16 428  

Receivables from clients written off (16) (799)

Claims from credit insurance on bad debts to banks – 1 

Claims from credit insurance on bad debts to customers - received indemnity 1 084 594  

Claims from credit insurance on bad debts to customers - the other to ensure 12 1 

Impairment losses on loans (2 576) (643)

The year-on-year increase in the costs of creating allowances is due to the increased amount of risky receivables. The main cause of economic

development is supported in export territories, leading to the restructuring of long-term loans provided under the funding structurally, materially

and financially demanding projects. As a result of these developments, the Bank pursued its claims for indemnity, which was, however, reduced

in some cases.
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11  /  INCOME TAX

The tax charge from the Bank’s profit before tax can be analysed as follows:

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

Income tax payable (696) (160)

Deferred tax 23 187 (20)

Income tax expense (509) (180)

Profit before taxation 307 263 

Expected tax 19% (2012: 19%) (58) (50)

Effects of tax rate reduction (2009: 20%; 2010: 19%) – –

Recycled from revaluation reserve on realisation – –

Effects of non-taxable expenses (642) (163)

Effects of non-taxable income 4 53 

Other 187 (20)

Income tax expense (509) (180)

Tax non-deductible expenses and income predominantly include the creation and release of tax non-deductible allowances for receivables from

clients amounting to CZK 3,329 million and the cost of recovery and write-off of receivables in the amount of CZK 17 million. 

12  /  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For cash flow reporting purposes, cash and cash equivalents include the following balances with the maturity period shorter than three months from

the date of acquisition. 

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

Cash and balances with central banks 13 39 632 

Placements with other banks 14 5 864 4 846 

Total cash and cash equivalents 5 903 5 478 

13  /  CASH AND BALANCES WITH THE CENTRAL BANK

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

Term deposits included in cash equivalents – 600 

Mandatory reserve deposits with central bank 39 32 

Cash and balances with central bank 12 39 632

Minimum obligatory reserves are set up as 2% of deposits from non-banking clients and of debt securities held by these persons which have 

a maturity shorter than 2 years, recorded at the end of the month preceding the month in which the relevant period begins. As these balances

are available on a daily basis, these are included in cash and cash equivalents
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14  /  LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Bonds not quoted in an active market issued by banks – 51 

Total bonds not quoted in an active market – 51 

Loans to banks 7 358 5 993 

Loans to other entities 78 486 67 388 

Other undifferentiated receivables 2 43 

Loans and receivables 85 846 73 424 

Total loans and receivables 85 846 73 475 

Remaining maturity:

Current loans to customers 8 195 6 179 

Non-current loans to customers 77 651 67 296 

Loans to banks

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

Current accounts with other banks 19 1 035 

Placements with other banks due within 3 months 5 845 3 811 

Included in cash equivalents 12 5 864 4 846 

Placements with other banks due in more than 3 months 626 –

Bonds not quoted in an active market – 51 

Loans to other banks 992 1 260 

Loans and advances to credit institutions without compromising total 7 482 6 157 

Allowance for loan impairment (124) (113)

Total loans to banks 7 358 6 044 

Remaining maturity:

Current loans to banks 7 105 5 275 

Non-current loans to banks 253 769 

Allowances for impairment on loans to banks

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Balance at 1 January (113) –

Additions to allowance (1) (112)

Net movement in allowances (1) (112)

Foreign exchange differences (10) (1)

Balance at 31 December (124) (113)
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Loans to other entities

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

LOANS TO CORPORATE ENTITIES

Pre-export funding 880 629 

Export funding 69 408 54 971 

Investment 12 407 12 590 

Operating 367 420 

For bank guarantee 1 –

Trade receivables 502 2 

For factoring 82 78 

Sale of receivables – 1  

Loans and advances to customers without compromising total 83 647 68 691 

Allowance for loan impairment (5 161) (1 303)

Total loans to corporate entities 78 486 67 388 

Remaining maturity:

Current loans to customers 1 088 860 

Non-current loans to customers 77 398 66 528 

Allowances for impairment on loans to other entities

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

At 1 January (1 303) (996)

Additions to allowance (3 671) (1 310)

Utilisation for write offs 16 428 

Release of allowance – 554 

Net movement in allowances (3 655) (328)

Foreign exchange differences (203) 21 

At 31 December (5 161) (1 303)

Other undifferentiated receivables

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Receivables from reinvoicing of incurred expenses 1 40 

Receivable from insurance with EGAP – 2 

Personnel loans from social fund 1 1 

Total other undifferentiated receivables 2 43 

Remaining maturity:

Current debts 2 43 

Non-current debts – –

The original cost reimbursement is based on the contractual documentation of business cases. This is the cost incurred by the Bank in connection

with the business case, especially on legal costs, insurance, control, etc. These costs are charged to the client for payment in line with the contract.

The Bank has created no allowances for undifferentiated receivables.

VZ_EN_13  26.5.14  10:47  Stránka 79



80

ČESKÁ EXPORTNÍ BANKA, A.S. / FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

15  /  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Bank uses the derivative instruments exclusively for hedging. For each derivative, it is decided whether hedging accounting should be 

applied to it in terms of IAS 39.

The Bank uses these derivative financial instruments:

Derivatives total

(CZK’m)

Notional amount Fair values

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

31 December 2013

Derivatives held for trading 8 065 8 548 74 541 

Hedging derivatives 34 459 35 141 87 2 278 

Total derivatives 42 524 43 689 161 2 819 

Remaining maturity:

Short-term derivatives held for trading 1 893 1 817 74 1 

Long-term derivatives held for trading 6 172 6 731 – 540 

Short-term hedging derivatives 9 072 9 072 – 175 

Long-term hedging derivatives 25 387 26 069 87 2 103 

31 December 2012

Derivatives held for trading 13 078 13 272 162 421 

Hedging derivatives 33 722 33 623 192 2 411 

Total derivatives 46 800 46 895 354 2 832 

Remaining maturity:

Short-term derivatives held for trading 2 258 2 394 – 140 

Long-term derivatives held for trading 10 820 10 878 162 281 

Short-term hedging derivatives 3 657 3 657 – 86 

Long-term hedging derivatives 30 065 29 966 192 2 325 

Derivatives held for trading

(CZK’m)

Notional amount Fair values

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

31 December 2013

FOREIGN EXCHANGE DERIVATIVES

Currency swaps 403 405 – 2  

INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

Interest rate swaps 737 737 – 28 

Cross-currency interest rate swap 6 925 7 406 74 511  

Total derivatives held for trading 8 065 8 548 74 541 

31 December 2012

FOREIGN EXCHANGE DERIVATIVES

Currency swaps 498 503 – 5 

INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

Interest rate swaps 220 220 – 13 

Cross-currency interest rate swap 12 360 12 549 162 403  

Total derivatives held for trading 13 078 13 272 162 421 

The Bank undertakes transactions in foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives mainly with other financial institutions. 
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Hedging fair value derivatives

In accordance with the rules of the use of hedge accounting approved by the ALCO the Bank has entered into  interest rate swaps, which

hedge the fair value of the interest payments on bonds in CZK and interest payments of the loans granted in EUR or USD (convert fixed interest

payments into variable). In 2013, one  new interest rate swap hedging the fair value  was concluded. 

Testing hedging effectiveness indicated that hedging is highly effective and complies with the requirements of IAS 39.

(CZK’m)

Notional amount Fair values

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

31 December 2013

INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

Interest rate swaps 10 443 10 443 87 500  

Total hedging derivatives 10 443 10 443 87 500 

31 December 2012

INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

Interest rate swaps 12 092 12 092 123 756 

Total hedging derivatives 12 092 12 092 123 756 

Hedging cash flow derivatives

The Bank arranged interest rate and currency swaps in order to hedge cash flows from future liabilities of the Bank (loans subject to variable 

interest and bond issues with variable coupons). Through interest swaps it transfers the variable interest payments of the Bank’s funds to fixed ones,

thus hedging the cash flows of the financial liabilities of the Bank. Foreign exchange swaps shall transfer the interest payment resources of one

currency into another currency, hedging currency risk. In 2013, hedge accounting was newly applied to one currency swap – cash flow hedging. 

Testing the hedging effectiveness showed that hedging is highly effective and it complies with the requirements of IAS 39. The effective part of

the change of fair value of hedging interest rate and currency swaps is recognized in equity. The Bank recorded a loss related to the ineffective

portion of the amount of CZK 9,972 thousand in 2013 and CZK 7,367 thousand in 2012. The higher loss is given by the fact that the Bank took 

the opportunity in the market and negotiated a fixed issue, which has been more cost-effective in terms of the interest rate profile. Hedging 

relationships used existing issues with a variable coupon with a slightly different profile of interest rate swaps, which resulted in a loss associated

with the ineffective portion of the hedge.

(CZK’m)

Notional amount Fair values

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

31 December 2013

INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

Interest rate swaps 16 471 16 471 – 1 108 

Cross-currency interest rate swap 7 545 8 227 – 670  

Total hedging derivatives 24 016 24 698 – 1 778 

31 December 2012

INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

Interest rate swaps 17 760 17 760 – 1 655 

Cross-currency interest rate swap 3 870 3 771 69 –

Total hedging derivatives 21 630 21 531 69 1 655 
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16  /  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE AND HELD-TO-MATURITY

Available-for-sale and held-to-maturity financial assets are represented in the Bank only by the portfolio of investment securities.

Investment securities are fixed rate or floating rate debt securities issued by the Czech Ministry of Finance or by entities with an investment grade

rating assigned by foreign rating agencies.

Sorting by listing status

(CZK’m) 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Total AAA AA+ to AA– A+ to A–

SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

– listed 5 380 5 648 446 289 4 170 4 858 764 501 

– unlisted 51 52 – – – – 51 52 

5 431 5 700 446 289 4 170 4 858 815 553 

Total 5 431 5 700 446 289 4 170 4 858 815 553 

SECURITIES HELD-TO-MATURITY

– listed 1 748 2 547 27 – 1 721 2 296 – 251 

– unlisted 52 53 – – – – 52 53 

1 800 2 600 27 – 1 721 2 296 52 304 

Total 1 800 2 600 27 – 1 721 2 296 52 304 

Pledged assets represent securities used in standard repurchase agreements.

Sorted by residual maturity

(CZK’m) 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Total AAA AA+ to AA– A+ to A–

SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

– short term 805 129 – – 750 79 55 50 

– long term 4 626 5 571 446 289 3 420 4 779 760 503 

5 431 5 700 446 289 4 170 4 858 815 553 

Total 5 431 5 700 446 289 4 170 4 858 815 553 

SECURITIES HELD-TO-MATURITY

– short term 284 923 27 – 257 672 – 251 

– long term 1 516 1 677 – – 1 464 1 624 52 53 

1 800 2 600 27 – 1 721 2 296 52 304 

Total 1 800 2 600 27 – 1 721 2 296 52 304 

In 2013 and 2012 no impairment of investment securities was noted.
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17  /  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

(CZK’m) Office Motor Unfinished Total
equipment vehicles investment

COST

At 1 January 2012 94 9 8 111

Additions 15 1 10 26

Disposals (7) (1) (16) (24)

At 31 December 2012 102 9 2 113

Additions 22 – 44 66 

Disposals (7) – (22) (29)

At 31 December 2013 117 9 24 150

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2012 (67) (3) – (70)

Additions (20) (3) – (23)

Disposals 7 1 – 8

At 31 December 2012 (80) (5) – (85)

Additions (21) (1) – (22)

Disposals 6 – – 6

At 31 December 2013 (95) (6) – (101)

CLOSING NET BOOK AMOUNT

At 31 December 2012 22 4 2 28

At 31 December 2013 22 3 24 49

18  /  INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

SOFTWARE

At 1 January

Costs 200 185

Accumulated amortisation (118) (108)

Opening net book amount 82 77

Additions 48 29

Disposals (54) (14)

Accumulated amortisation (20) (10)

At 31 December

Cost 194 200

Accumulated amortisation (138) (118)

Closing net book amount 56 82

19  /  OTHER ASSETS

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Insurance benefit claim from EGAP 400 161 

Receivables - state subsidy 1 159 142 

Prepayments and accrued income 10 25 

Other receivables – 1 

Total other assets 1 569 329 

Remaining maturity:

Current other assets 1 251 183 

Non-current other assets 318 146 
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20  /  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD AT AMORTIZED COST

Total financial liabilities held at amortized cost

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Deposits and other financial liabilities at amortized cost due to banks 1 394 3 467 

Deposits and other financial liabilities at amortized cost due to clients 2 035 4 726 

Other undifferentiated financial liabilities at amortized cost 58 55 

Deposits, loans and other financial liabilities at amortized cost 3 487 8 248 

Issued bonds at amortized cost 83 906 68 088 

Total financial liabilities at amortized cost 87 393 76 336 

Remaining maturity:

Current 15 215 15 030 

Non-current 72 178 61 306 

To banks

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Short term deposits received 411 551 

Borrowings 983 2 916 

Total financial liabilities at amortized cost due to banks 1 394 3 467 

Type of rate:

Fixed interest rates 1 394 3 467 

Variable interest rates – –

Remaining maturity:

Current 411 2 451 

Non-current 983 1 016

To clients

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Current accounts 871 831 

Term deposits 975 1 773 

Escrow accounts 172 149 

Loans received from clients – 1 883 

Other short term liabilities 17 90 

Total financial liabilities at amortized cost due to clients 2 035 4 726 

Type of rate:

Fixed interest rates 1 208 4 557 

Variable interest rates 63 79 

Interest free deposits 764 90 

Remaining maturity:

Current 1 897 2 670 

Non-current 138 2 056 

Escrow deposits are deposits from clients held as a form of cash security for credit lines given.
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Debt securities in issue

(CZK’m) 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

ISIN Nominal Currenc Issued Maturity Rate (%) (%)

QUOTED COUPON BONDS

XS0302244933 120 EUR 23 May 2007 23 May 2016 FLOAT 3 344 0,227 3 086 0,328 

XS0302244420 50 EUR 23 May 2007 23 May 2014 FLOAT 1 375 0,217 1 269 0,318 

XS0332367274 50 EUR 23 November 2007 23 November 2017 FIX 1 377 4,555 1 262 4,555 

XS0370210675 50 EUR 13 June 2008 13 June 2013 FLOAT – 0,466 1 260 1,087 

XS0425436911 150 USD 29 April 2009 29 April 2014 FLOAT 3 008 2,737 2 908 2,947 

XS0446116518 50 EUR 17 August 2009 18 August 2014 FLOAT 1 385 1,842 1 278 2,845 

XS0458720330 70 USD 22 October 2009 22 October 2014 FIX 1 402 4,015 1 343 4,015 

XS0458720769 70 USD 22 October 2009 22 October 2015 FIX 1 403 4,375 1 343 4,375 

XS0458720926 70 USD 22 October 2009 24 October 2016 FIX 1 403 4,687 1 343 4,687 

XS0499380128 150 EUR 15 April 2010 15 April 2015 FLOAT 4 144 0,970 3 815 1,683 

XS0501185929 150 EUR 15 April 2010 15 April 2020 FIX 4 233 4,195 3 880 4,195 

XS0520250365 50 USD 25 June 2010 25 June 2014 FLOAT 996 1,446 957 1,569 

XS0523144961 200 EUR 8 July 2010 8 July 2013 FLOAT – 1,124 5 073 2,373 

XS0524914362 150 EUR 12 July 2010 12 July 2017 FIX 4 177 3,850 3 826 3,850 

XS0565318150 100 EUR 8 December 2010 8 December 2016 FLOAT 2 744 0,784 2 516 1,389 

XS0583192108 50 USD 24 January 2011 25 January 2016 FLOAT 977 0,238 927 0,452 

XS0598967502 70 EUR 3 March 2011 3 March 2021 FIX 1 986 4,407 1 820 4,407 

XS0616463294 70 EUR 21 April 2011 23 April 2013 FLOAT – 0,604 1 763 0,858 

XS0630593233 3 675 CZK 26 May 2011 26 May 2021 FLOAT 3 678 1,190 3 679 2,210 

XS0680917647 3 675 CZK 22 September 2011 24 September 2018 FLOAT 3 685 1,320 3 689 2,250 

XS0757372114 250 EUR 15 March 2012 15 March 2019 FIX 7 018 3,625 6 428 3,625 

XS0792803131 3 870 CZK 14 June 2012 14 June 2018 FLOAT 3 869 1,260 3 869 2,270 

XS0792751405 1 470 CZK 18 June 2012 18 June 2014 FLOAT 1 468 0,490 1 465 1,510 

XS0828623073 50 EUR 3 October 2012 3 October 2022 FIX 1 372 2,887 1 258 2,887 

XS0849901326 50 EUR 2 November 2012 2 November 2018 FIX 1 373 1,870 1 260 1,870 

XS0849907281 50 EUR 5 November 2012 5 November 2024 FIX 1 377 3,302 1 263 3,302 

XS0850460634 150 EUR 15 November 2012 15 November 2022 FIX 4 118 2,440 3 775 2,440 

XS0911304326 40 EUR 8 April 2013 8 April 2025 FIX 1 119 2,905 – –

XS0931692635 100 EUR 16 May 2013 16 May 2018 FLOAT 2 742 0,669 – –

XS0940439994 250 EUR 6 June 2013 6 June 2016 FLOAT 6 848 0,684 – –

XS0965943995 1 800 CZK 30 August 2013 1 September 2015 FIX 1 803 0,495 – –

XS0973829483 150 EUR 25 September 2013 25 September 2020 FLOAT 4 121 0,707 – –

XS0997635585 100 EUR 28 November 2013 28 November 2017 FLOAT 2 742 0,620 – –

UNQUOTED BILLS

XS0825830176 10 EUR 3 September 2012 10 January 2013 FIX – 0,100 251 0,100 

XS0828615053 10 EUR 11 September 2012 11 February 2013 FIX – 0,100 251 0,100 

XS0847042537 3 USD 19 October 2012 18 October 2013 FIX – 0,680 57 0,680 

XS0848879861 20 EUR 23 October 2012 25 March 2013 FIX – 0,110 503 0,110 

XS0849509715 3 EUR 25 October 2012 24 October 2013 FIX – 0,330 63 0,330 

XS0852614873 20 USD 5 November 2012 7 May 2013 FIX – 0,610 380 0,610 

XS0852676633 2 EUR 6 November 2012 5 November 2013 FIX – 0,310 38 0,310 

XS0862654273 10 USD 5 December 2012 5 March 2013 FIX – 0,370 190 0,370 

XS0937174497 10 USD 23 May 2013 22 May 2014 FIX 198 0,620 – –

XS0953207247 10 USD 11 July 2013 22 May 2014 FIX 199 0,420 – –

XS0968919117 10 EUR 2 September 2013 1 September 2014 FIX 274 0,300 – –

XS0976187046 9 EUR 30 September 2013 31 January 2014 FIX 247 0,100 – –

XS0984507268 10 USD 18 October 2013 20 January 2014 FIX 199 0,230 – –

XS0988186424 5 USD 29 October 2013 24 October 2014 FIX 89 0,520 – –

XS0993316743 12 USD 8 November 2013 10 February 2014 FIX 239 0,200 – –

XS0995377107 10 EUR 15 November 2013 14 November 2014 FIX 274 0,300 – –

XS1006087404 300 CZK 13 December 2013 13 February 2014 FIX 300 0,080 – –

XS1008562982 300 CZK 18 December 2013 18 February 2014 FIX 300 0,090 – –

XS1008563014 300 CZK 18 December 2013 18 March 2014 FIX 300 0,110 – –

83 906 68 088

Remaining maturity:

Current 12 849 10 383

Non-current 71 057 58 259

Bonds issued by the Bank are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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21  /  OTHER LIABILITIES

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Accruals and deferrals 13 44

Due to customers - outstanding payment the current account 28 5

Total other liabilities 41 49

Remaining maturity:

Current other liabilities 36 12

Non-current other liabilities 5 37

22  /  PROVISIONS

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

PROVISION FOR EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

At 1 January 23 13 

Additions to provision 8 10 

Release of reserves 9 (1) –

At 31 December 30 23 

PROVISION FOR GUARANTEES GIVEN

At 1 January 10 –

Additions to provision – 11 

Exchange effects 1 (1)

At 31 December 11 10 

Total provisions 41 33 

23  /  DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Deferred income tax for 2013 is calculated using a tax rate for years of expected use of the deferred tax in the amount of 19% for 2014 and the

following years.

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

At 1 January 294 364 

Deferred fee and interest income – –

Deferred tax on tangible and intangible assets 1 –

Deferred tax to reserves – 2 

Deferred tax the premiums according to § 24 paragraph 2 point. zv ) 174 5 

Tax non-deductible creation of allowances for losses on loans 12 (27)

Total income statement charge 11 187 (20)

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

– change in deferred tax for-sale securities 25 10 (35)

CASH FLOW HEDGES

– change in deferred tax on hedging derivatives 25 (118) (15)

At 31 December 373 294 
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities incurred for items shown below:

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

Accelerated tax depreciation (1) (2)

Available-for-sale securities (21) (31)

(22) (33)

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax asset reserves 2 2 

Deferred fee and interest income 2 2 

Tax non-deductible creation of allowances for losses on loans 12 –

Deferred tax assets for insurance according to § 24 paragraph 2 point. zv) 206 32 

Cash flow hedges 173 291 

395 327 

Net deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) 373 294 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset tax assets against tax liabilities.

24  /  SHARE CAPITAL

Under Act No. 58/1995 Coll., at least two thirds of the Bank’s shares must be owned by the Czech state. The state’s share rights are executed by four

ministries (Note 1). The remaining shares must be owned by EGAP.

(CZK’m) Number Nominal value Total nominal Sharel
of shares per share value

(#) %

31 December 2013 

Czech state 2 200 1 2 200

Czech state 100 10 1 000

Czech state total1) 2 300 3 200 80,0

EGAP 300 1 300

EGAP 50 10 500

EGAP total 350 800 20,0

Total 2 650 4 000 100,0

31 December 2012

Czech state 2 200 1 2 200

Czech state 100 10 1 000

Czech state total1) 2 300 3 200 80,0

EGAP 300 1 300

EGAP 50 10 500

EGAP 350 800 20,0

Total 2 650 4 000 100,0

1) Ministry of Finance, Letenská 525/15, Prague 1 

Ministry of Industry and Trade, Na Františku 1039/32, Prguea 1

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Loretánské nám. 101/5, Prague 1

Ministry of Agriculture, Těšnov 65/17, Prague 1
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25  /  VALUATION DIFFERENCES

(CZK’m) Note 2013 2012

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

At 1 January 133 (15)

Net gains / (losses) from changes in fair value (79) 178 

Deferred income taxes 23 15 (34)

Reclassification cumulative profit/(-) loss on proceeds from sale of securities 

available-for-sale to profit and loss 26 5 

Deferred income taxes transfer from equity to profit and loss 23 (5) (1)

Total change (43) 148 

At 31 December 90 133 

CASH FLOW HEDGES

At 1 January (1 241) (1 307)

Net gains / (losses) from changes in fair value 1 960 (472)

Deferred income taxes 23 (372) 90 

Amount charged to income statement from equity (1 340) 553 

Deferred income taxes transfer from equity to profit and loss 23 254 (105)

Total change 502 66 

At 31 December (739) (1 241)

Revaluation Total (649) (1 108)

26  /  RESERVES

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Commercial Code, the Bank is required to set aside a statutory reserve in equity from profit or from shareholders’ 

contributions.

Five percent of the net profit shall be allocated to the statutory reserve until the level of 20% of share capital is achieved. This reserve can be

used exclusively to cover losses.

The share capital of the Bank in 2010 was increased by CZK 1,050 million to CZK 4,000 million. During 2013 the gradual replenishment of the 

statutory reserve fund up to 20% of share capital is continuing.

Other special fund

Beyond the allocation to the statutory reserve fund, the Bank recognised an export risks fund in order to cover losses from increased unsecured

credit risk in the operation of subsidized financing, which amounted to CZK 620 million as of 31 December 2013.

27  /  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

The contractual amounts of the off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit the Bank to granting credit to clients and the related accepted

guarantees and collateral are as follows:

Provided credit commitments are guarantees

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

CREDIT COMMITMENTS

Payment guarantees 2 009 2 244 

Non-payment guarantees2) 2 543 2 168 

Irrevocable commitments 13 960 18 205 

Guarantees from confirmed letter of credit 1 224

Total 18 513 22 841 
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Received collateral and pledges

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Payment guarantees 3 022 5 660 

Non-payment guarantees2) 32 19 

Total accepted guarantees 3 054 5 679 

Insurance with state subsidy 89 842 81 524 

Insurance without state subsidy – 14 

Total accepted insurance 89 842 81 538 

Cash 188 215 

Securities 3 35 

Total other collateral accepted 191 250 

Securities accepted in reverse repo transactions 564 –

2)   Non-payment guarantees are guarantees under which the Bank is liable for non-monetary obligations of the customer. 

Contingent assets (received irrevocable guarantees, collateral and insurance accepted) are stated at value, which represents the expected 

fulfilment from contingent assets by the Bank in the case of a debtor’s failure and subsequent foreclosure. This is to collateralise a balance-sheet

and off-balance sheet of the Bank's exposure.

Operating leasing

The Bank is committed to future minimum lease payments under the operating lease of buildings of indefinite duration and 12-month notice 

period, as follows:

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

Czech Republic 21 19

Russian Federation 2 2

Within 1 year 23 21

28  /  RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Bank provides specialized services supporting export activities in accordance with Act No. 58/1995 Coll. This Act also determines the structure

of the shareholders; the Bank is fully controlled by the Czech state which owns 80% of the Bank’s share capital directly and 20% of the share 

capital indirectly via EGAP, which is fully owned by the Czech state. 

Related-party transactions are concluded within normal business transactions. Related parties are identified based on the criteria of IAS 24.

Transactions with related parties are conducted in the normal course of business. All fees related to collateral and guarantees received, 

including credit insurance premiums, are borne by the debtors.

The types and outstanding balances of related-party transactions at the balance sheet date and related expense and income for the year are

as follows:

Balances with entities controlled by the same controlling entity (Czech state)

(CZK’m) 2013 2012

PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS Balance at December 31 Income Balance at December 31 Income

Česká národní banka (central bank) 39 – 632 9 

BONDS HELD-TO-MATURITY

Ministerstvo financí ČR 5 832 234 7 098 131 

5 832 234 7 098 131 

PREMIUMS RECEIVABLE

EGAP, a.s. 399 1 083 160 588 

LIABILITY ARISING FROM STATE SUBSIDY

Ministerstvo financí ČR 1 159 2 187 142 636 

Total financial assets 7 429 3 504 8 032 1 364
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((CZK’m) 2013 2012

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES Balance at December 31 IExpense Balance at December 31 Expense

DUE TO CLIENTS

EGAP, a.s. 944 (8) 1 514 (25)

Českomoravská záruční a rozvojová banka – – – (1)

944 (8) 1 514 (26)

LOANS RECEIVED FROM CLIENTS

Ministerstvo financí ČR – (76) 1 883 (78)

Total financial liabilities 944 (84) 3 397 (104)

Movements on the Czech state subsidy account for the losses arising from and covered by the Czech state are disclosed in Note 8.

Salaries and bonuses paid to members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board are disclosed in Note 9.

29  /  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In the period from the balance sheet date to the 2013 financial statements preparation date, the following events took place:

n As of 1 January 2014, an organizational change involving changes in CEB’s organizational structure  came into effect: 

– The Legislation and International Relations Division was abolished; 

– The International Relations and Communication Department was transferred to the direct competence of the CEO; 

– The Legislation and Law Department was transferred to the competence of the Finance Division;

– The Reporting agenda was abolished and taken over by the Compliance Department; and

– The position of the Office of the CEO Department was changed to the Office of the CEO agenda.

n During February 2014, ČEB received an Order from the Czech National Bank instructing it to undertake a series of corrective measures relating

to the risk management system. ČEB filed an appeal against this Order within the statutory deadline which resulted in the Order being

cancelled as a whole; the proceedings under the administrative rules will thus continue.

n In January 2014, the Czech Police undertook an investigation at ČEB’s premises with the objective of gathering documentation relating to

business cases from 2005–2012. This investigation remains ongoing as of the financial statements date.

n On 14 March 2014 Ing. Michal Bakajsa announced his resignation as Vice-Chairman and member of the Board of CEB and was relieved of

these responsibilities on 31 March 2014.

The events referred to above have had no impact on the disclosed financial data. 

Date of preparation: 14 March 2014

Signed on behalf of the Bank’s Board of Directors:

Jiří Klumpar Karel Bureš

Chairman of the Board of Directors Member of the Board of Directors

and CEO and Deputy CEO
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Pursuant to Section 66a (9-11) of Act 513/1991 Coll., the Commercial Code, as amended

Controlled Entity

Company name: Česká exportní banka, a.s., (hereinafter the “Bank”)

Registered office: Prague 1, Vodičkova 34/701, 111 21

Corporate ID: 63078333

Tax ID: CZ63078333

Record in the Register of Companies: Municipal Court in Prague, File B, Insert 3042

Controlling Entity 

Česká exportní banka, a.s. is controlled by the State. The State performs its shareholder rights directly through the

ministries referred to below and indirectly through Exportní garanční a pojišťovací společnost, a.s.

Composition of Shareholders as of 31 December 2013

1. State 80 % of shares  

In order to determine the majority of votes of the ministries, the votes are divided as follows:

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic 52 votes

based at Letenská 15, Prague 1, 118 10, corporate ID: 6947

Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Czech Republic 30 votes

based at Na Františku 32, Prague 1, 110 15, corporate ID:47609109

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Czech Republic 12 votes

based at Loretánské náměstí 5, Prague 1, 180 00, corporate ID: 45769851

Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic 6 votes

based at Těšnov 17, Prague 1, 117 05, Corporate ID: 00020478

2. Exportní garanční a pojišťovací společnost, a.s. 20 % of shares
based at Vodičkova 34, Prague 1, 111 21, corporate ID: 45279314

Share Capital CZK 4,000,000,000 International Securities 
Identification Numbers 

(ISIN)

1. State 100 shares with a nominal CZ0008040987

value of CZK 10 million

2,200 shares with a nominal CZ0008040995

value of CZK 1 million

2. Exportní garanční a pojišťovací společnost, a.s 50 shares with a nominal CZ0008040987

value of CZK 10 million

300 shares with a nominal CZ0008040995

value of CZK 1 million

Česká exportní banka, a.s. does not have controlling influence in any company. 

Reporting Period 

This report discloses related party transactions for the most recent reporting period, ie for the year ended 31

December 2013. 
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5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

z z z 5. REPORT ON RELATIONS BETWEEN THE CONTROLLING AND THE CONTROLLED ENTITY AND BETWEEN THE CONTROLLED
ENTITY AND OTHER ENTITIES CONTROLLED BY THE SAME CONTROLLING ENTITY (HEREINAFTER THE “RELATED PARTIES”)
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Other Related Parties subject to Disclosure

Pursuant to the information available to Česká exportní banka, a.s., the State currently acts as a controlling entity

in the following entities with which the Bank concluded contractual arrangements in 2013:

Česká národní banka, corporate ID: 48136450

Exportní garanční a pojišťovací společnost, a.s., corporate ID: 45279314

Ministerstvo financí ČR, corporate ID: 00006947

Českomoravská záruční a rozvojová banka, a.s., corporate ID: 44848943

5.4.1. In the reporting period, the Bank had the following securities in its portfolio:

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic, corporate ID: 00006947 – bonds and state treasury bills 

5.4.2. In the reporting period, the Bank concluded related party transactions as follows:

a) Banking transactions on the assets side of the balance sheet of Česká exportní banka, a.s.

Related party Name of contract Number of contracts

Czech National Bank Inter-bank transactions – treasury 150

ČEB has an account of mandatory minimum reserves maintained with the Czech National Bank. 

b) Banking transactions on the liabilities side of the balance sheet of Česká exportní banka, a.s.

Related party Name of contract Number of contracts

Českomoravská záruční a rozvojová banka, a.s. Inter-bank transactions – treasury 3

Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic Loan 2

EGAP, a.s. has current accounts and term placements maintained by ČEB. The terms and conditions applicable to

these accounts are similar to those agreed in maintaining accounts of other entities.

5.4.3. Non-Banking Related Party Contractual Transactions Concluded in the Reporting Period

Related party Contract name Number of contracts

Českomoravská záruční a rozvojová banka, a.s. Business Representation Contract 1

Exportní garanční a pojišťovací společnost, a.s. Contract on the insurance of export loan risks   

in line with the General Insurance terms

three contacts D1, five contacts Z 8

Insurance rulings regulating the terms and conditions 

for the insurance of export loan risks agreed under limit 

agreements for the insurance of export loan risks

concluded in the years 2009–2012  14

Amendments to individual one-off insurance agreements 

stipulating the terms and conditions for the insurance 

of export loan risks concluded in the years 2009–2012 5

Settlement agreement 1

Contracts on the regulation of rights and obligations 

concluded in respect of insurance performance arising from 

an insurance agreement, including amendments thereto 4

The contracts were concluded under arm’s length conditions and the Bank suffered no detriment arising from

these contracts.

5.4.
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In addition to the contracts disclosed above and concluded in 2013, the following contracts of ČEB concluded

prior to 2013 were in effect:

a)  Agreement on maintaining the service quality standard in supporting exports concluded with Czech Agency

for Trade Support (Česká agentura na podporu obchodu);

b)  Memorandum on co-operation concluded with CzechInvest, the Agency for Business and Investment Support; and

c)  Memorandum on co-operation related to short-term study programmes for ČEB’s employees at Embassies of the

Czech Republic abroad, concluded with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Czech Republic.

Other Legal Acts Effected in the Interest or at the Initiative of Related Parties

No other legal acts were performed in the interest of related parties in the year ended 31 December 2013.

Other Measures Adopted

Pursuant to Act 58/1995 Coll., as amended, Česká exportní banka, a.s. provides state support on exports. In line

with the relevant act, the State is obligated to pay for the determined losses which the Bank incurs in operating the

supported funding. The State also provides guarantees for the Bank’s liabilities in the scope defined by Act 58/1995 Coll.

The State as the controlling entity did not adopt any measures which would cause detriment to the Bank in the most

recent reporting period. During the reporting period, the Bank did not adopt any measures from its own will or for

the benefit or at the initiative of other related parties, other than those referred to above.

Performance Received and Provided

In 2013, EGAP, a.s. paid insurance compensation in the amount of CZK 1,523.1 million to the Bank. The aggregate

income arising from the insurance performance from EGAP, a.s., reported in the Bank’s accounting books amounted

to CZK 1,083.5 million. The amount of estimated insurance receivables amounted to CZK 399 million. In addition to

this performance, no other performance arising from the concluded contracts was provided or received in 2013.

The only exception are the regular fees related to the provision of bank products, insurance premium payments and their

re-billing and the fees related to the maintenance of current and deposit accounts. In addition, in the reporting period

the Bank received and paid interest as a result of related party transactions, as reported in the assets and liabilities

of the balance sheet. The performance received and provided was realised under arm’s length conditions.  

In accordance with Act 58/1995 Coll., subsidies were provided from the State arising from the financing of export

with state support under international rules (specifically the OECD Consensus) in the amount of CZK 1,169.9 million,

ie including an additional payment of the subsidy for 2012 in the amount of CZK 142.0 million. The aggregate

amount of the subsidy reported in the Bank’s accounting records for 2013 (ie loss arising from support financing) is

CZK 2,186.9 million.

Legal Disputes

Česká exportní banka, a.s. is not involved in any legal dispute with the State or an entity controlled by the State.

Statement on the Related Party Transactions Report

The Board of Directors states that the Bank incurred no detriment based on the legal arrangements between the Bank

and the related parties during the reporting period ended 31 December 2013.

In Prague on 28 March 2014  

Ing. Jiří Klumpar Mgr. Luboš Vaněk

Chairman of the Board of Directors Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 

and CEO and Deputy CEO
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